

Recent technological advancements in radiofrequencyandmicrowave-mediated hyperthermia for enhancing drug delivery

Downloaded from: https://research.chalmers.se, 2021-08-31 11:31 UTC

Citation for the original published paper (version of record): Paulides, M., Dobsicek Trefna, H., Curto, S. et al (2020) Recent technological advancements in radiofrequency- andmicrowave-mediated hyperthermia for enhancing drug delivery Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews, 163-164: 3-18 http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.addr.2020.03.004

N.B. When citing this work, cite the original published paper.

research.chalmers.se offers the possibility of retrieving research publications produced at Chalmers University of Technology. It covers all kind of research output: articles, dissertations, conference papers, reports etc. since 2004. research.chalmers.se is administrated and maintained by Chalmers Library



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/addr

Recent technological advancements in radiofrequencyand microwave-mediated hyperthermia for enhancing drug delivery



M.M. Paulides ^{a,b,*}, H. Dobsicek Trefna ^c, S. Curto ^b, D.B. Rodrigues ^d

^a Electromagnetics for Care & Cure Laboratory (EM4C&C), Center for Care & Cure Technology Eindhoven (C3Te), Department of Electrical Engineering, Eindhoven University of Technology, Eindhoven, the Netherlands

^b Hyperthermia Unit, Department of Radiation Oncology, Erasmus MC Cancer Institute, Rotterdam, the Netherlands

^c Biomedical Electromagnetics group, Department of Electrical Engineering, Chalmers University of Technology, Göteborg, Sweden

^d Thermal Oncology Program, Department of Radiation Oncology, University of Maryland School of Medicine, Baltimore, USA

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 7 November 2019 Received in revised form 20 March 2020 Accepted 24 March 2020 Available online 27 March 2020

Keywords: Hyperthermia Radiofrequency Microwave Drug delivery

ABSTRACT

Hyperthermia therapy is a potent enhancer of chemotherapy and radiotherapy. In particular, microwave (MW) and radiofrequency (RF) hyperthermia devices provide a variety of heating approaches that can treat most cancers regardless the size. This review introduces the physics of MW/RF hyperthermia, the current state-of-the-art systems for both localized and regional heating, and recent advancements in hyperthermia treatment guidance using real-time computational simulations and magnetic resonance thermometry. Clinical trials involving RF/MW hyperthermia as adjuvant for chemotherapy are also presented per anatomical site. These studies favor the use of adjuvant hyperthermia is the distribution of state-of-the-art heating systems. Nevertheless, we anticipate that recent technology advances will expand the use of hyperthermia to chemotherapy centers for enhanced drug delivery. These new technologies hold great promise not only for (image-guided) perfusion modulation and sensitization for cytotoxic drugs, but also for local delivery of various compounds using thermosensitive liposomes.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1.	1. Introduction								
2.	Physics of radiofrequency and microwave mediated hyperthermia								
	2.1.	Aim of hyperthermia							
	2.2.	Heating by RF and mw							
	2.3.	Different techniques to induce localized heating.							
		2.3.1. Superficial hyperthermia							
		2.3.2. Deep hyperthermia - external heating							
		2.3.3. Deep hyperthermia – internal heating							
		2.3.4. Applicator selection							
		2.3.5. Comparison to other techniques.							
	2.4.	Treatment monitoring							
3.	Clinica	al applications of RF and MW mediated hyperthermia							
	3.1.	Bladder cancer							
	3.2.	Sarcomas							
	3.3.	. Head and neck cancer							
	3.4.	Esophageal cancer							
	3.5.	Rectal cancer							
	3.6.	Anal cancer							
	3.7.	Lung cancer							

* Corresponding author at: P.O. Box 513, 5600 MB Eindhoven, the Netherlands. *E-mail address*: m.m.paulides@tue.nl (M.M. Paulides).

	3.8.	Other cancers					
	3.9.	Summary of clinical trials					
4.	Poten	tial for RF and microwave mediated hyperthermia and drug delivery					
	4.1.	Simulation-guided hyperthermia.					
	4.2.	Mr-guided hyperthermia					
5.	Future	e outlook					
Acknowledgements							
Refe	rences.						

1. Introduction

Despite progress in cancer treatment outcomes, cancer mortality rates are rising because society faces an aging population. Patients that do survive after treatment, suffer longer from the severe side-effects induced by current aggressive treatments that often include radiotherapy, chemotherapy, or both. Hence, improvement of cancer therapy effectiveness is required while simultaneously reducing long-term sideeffects. Extensive biologic research showed that hyperthermia therapy (HT) is a potent sensitizer of ionizing radiation and that HT can also greatly enhance the effectiveness of chemotherapy [1,2] as well as increase the tumor-specific immune surveillance [3,4]. Clinically, the beneficial impact of HT induced by radiofrequency (RF) electromagnetic waves was demonstrated by many phase III trials for several tumor sites when combined with ionizing radiation [5] and a number of chemotherapeutics [6-9]. Of relevance, no increase in late toxicity induced by HT was found in these studies, making heat a potent enhancer of current cancer treatments without adding to their long-term side effects. Although clinical work to date has demonstrated only temperature dose-effect relations [10], biological work also showed the impact of heat-mediated perfusion modulation on therapy outcome [11]. In addition, HT is being studied for enhanced local drug delivery by heatmediated release of drugs encapsulated in thermosensitive liposomes [12,13]. These are important incentives to combine HT with chemotherapy, especially via controlled localized heating that can be achieved with electromagnetic-based methods such as radiofrequency (RF) and microwave (MW). Recent developments in RF/MW HT device technology are enabling significantly more localized application of HT, but a detailed review is currently not available.

This review summarizes the current clinical status, recent developments and potential of RF and MW induced heating aimed at its utility in local drug delivery. It first reviews the basic principles, strengths and limitations of RF and MW, continues with all clinical studies per anatomical site involving RF/MW HT as adjuvant for chemotherapy, reviews the potential of new RF/MW technologies entering the clinic and finalizes with a future outlook. The review is kept broad as to enable comprehensive assessment of the field by medical doctors, basic researchers, physicists, and engineers. Further, it is designed for both newcomers in the field as well as more established researchers and clinical personnel.

2. Physics of radiofrequency and microwave mediated hyperthermia

2.1. Aim of hyperthermia

The goal of HT is to raise temperature in tumors to render the cells more sensitive to ionizing radiation and chemotherapy [14,15]. The proven effectiveness of HT relies on its thermal effect on tumors that is dependent on both temperature and heating time, as shown by preclinical [16–18] and clinical studies [19–23]. The sensitization occurs mostly via increased blood perfusion, increased oxygenation, inhibition of radiation-induced DNA damage repair, and boosting local/systemic immune response [24].

The range of the therapeutic temperature goal in tumors differs in literature and treatment protocols by a few degrees centigrade, but span within 39–45 °C [5]. The difference is explained with evolving knowledge of HT effects, but also depends on the type of combination with other therapeutic agents and location in the body. The suggestion of an expert panel at ESHO 2018¹ defined the goal temperatures to be 40–44 °C, which has now been widely accepted. This temperature range is nevertheless based on a strong evidence coming from clinical studies that combines HT with radiotherapy and can be slightly lower for the protocols combining HT with chemotherapy, i.e., 39–43 °C [5]. This range is related to increases in perfusion found at 39 °C and the finding that temperatures greater than 43 °C increase the risk for vascular damage [25], which will reduce the amount of drug that can be delivered to the tumor. It should be emphasized that a benefit of HT has been clinically demonstrated only when applied in combination with chemotherapy and/or radiotherapy [5,6]. In current practice, HT is applied for 60 min before/after radiotherapy within a 0.5-4 h window, while with chemotherapy, HT is applied simultaneously or shortly after the chemotherapeutic regimen [14]. Section 3 of this review provides an in-depth analysis of the clinical trials to date involving heat and chemotherapy.

2.2. Heating by RF and mw

Many different electromagnetic (EM)-based technologies have been used to apply HT. Their main difference is the applicator frequency: 3 Hz to 300 MHz (RF), 300 MHz to 300 GHz (MW), and 300 GHz–430 THz (infrared, IR). This chapter will cover the RF/MW devices and their use in clinical trials, where the transition from RF to MW is defined to be at 300 MHz.

When applying RF/MW energy in the human body, all tissues behave as lossy dielectrics, i.e., they are both poor insulators and poor electrical conductors. The tissue heating mechanism varies with frequency of the EM wave. At RF below approximately 30 MHz a process known as joule heating occurs as a result of ion movement due to applied EM field, causing energy dissipation by friction and collision with surrounding molecules, leading to local heating of tissue.

The radiative mode of EM propagation and dielectric losses in tissue come into being predominant at frequencies above 100 MHz. Heating is generated primarily by mechanical frictions between adjacent polar water molecules, which oscillate 100 million cycles per second in the time varying electric field.

The interaction of RF/MW fields with biological tissue is typically investigated using a macroscopic model including the dielectric properties: effective electrical conductivity σ (units of S/m) and relative permittivity ε_r (unitless). The effective electrical conductivity embodies all electrical losses in the material due to the currents driven by the EM field. The relative permittivity describes the ability to polarize a material subjected to an applied EM field. Both properties are tissue, frequency and temperature dependent [26–28] and can be modeled mathematically using empirical data [29,30]. An overview of normal human dielectric properties was originally measured and tabulated by Gabriel et al. [30]. A more comprehensive database

¹ 32nd Annual Meeting of the European Society for Hyperthermic Oncology, Berlin, Germany May 16–19, 2018.

that also includes thermal and physiological properties is accessible in the ITIS Tissue Properties Database [31].

The EM energy is converted into heat through the lossy nature of the tissue. The energy absorbed in tissue is often described by the Specific Absorption Rate (SAR) with units of W/kg. The SAR parameter corresponds to the rate at which EM energy is absorbed per unit weight of tissue, and can be calculated using either of the two equations:

$$SAR = \frac{\sigma |E|^2}{2\rho} \tag{1}$$

$$SAR = C_p \frac{dT}{dt}$$
(2)

where ρ is the mass density (kg/m³), *E* is the magnitude of the local electric field (V/m), C_p is the specific heat capacity (J/kg/°C) of the tissue and dT/dt is the initial heating rate (°C/s). The right-hand side of Eq. 2 suggests the relation of SAR and initial temperature rise in tissue when thermal conduction and thermal convection effects are neglected. As an example, to increase the temperature of muscle tissue by 1 °C in 1 min, an average SAR of 60 W/kg is required [32]. To model a heat transport in the human body in the treatment planning phase, the Pennes bioheat transfer equation is commonly applied [33]. However, neither heat exchange between tissue and realistic vasculature, or for the direction of blood flow is accounted in this straightforward model. The most accurate calculations are thus performed by modelling of the vasculature discretely, also known as a discrete vasculature (DIVA) model [34]. At the moment, the main hurdle for DIVA modelling is the inability to discriminate vessels down to the required 0.1 mm diameter using current imaging modalities in a clinically realistic time [35,36]. Hence, currently the PBHE is mostly used due to its simplicity and validity in tissues with small (< 0.1 mm in diameter) blood vessels.

In order to quantify the hyperthermic effect reported in different studies and to assure treatment reproducibility, a relationship between thermal exposure and thermal damage has been defined. In a proposed thermal-dose relationship, often referred to as thermal isoeffect dose (TID) or cumulative equivalent minutes at 43 °C (CEM43) [15,37,38], it was shown that for every 1 °C rise in temperature above 43 °C, cell killing doubles while cell killing diminishes by about one guarter for every 1 °C below 43C. In order to reflect the limited information about the spatial and time distribution of the achieved temperatures in treated area as provided by the current thermometry, a treatment descriptor has been modified to consider the 10th percentile of the temperature distribution (T90). The current expression CEM43T90 thus compares different tissues in terms of their thermal-dose sensitivity is a combination of CEM43 with a threshold temperature T90. An alternative thermal dose parameter is TRISE, which is based on the temperature exceeded by 50% of measurement points and duration of heating [22]. All the above parameters display some conceptual weaknesses as they represent the effect of the entire history of heat exposure on cell death, but they do not include the radio- or chemo-sensitization effect [10]. Nonetheless, there is a strong correlation between thermal dose and clinical outcomes as has been shown by several clinical studies [23,39–41]. Thus, in order to achieve optimal therapeutic results, adequate temperature must be delivered for an appropriate period of time to the entire tumor volume. Therefore, and despite some limitations in capturing the full hyperthermic effect, CEM43 and TRISE have been identified as two of the most important measures of the treatment efficacy when combining radiation with HT to treat cancer [10]. This correlative effect is expected, but not yet validated, in thermochemotherapy treatments. Details about the thermal dose concept are given in the reference [42] of this issue.

2.3. Different techniques to induce localized heating

A summary of different techniques to apply HT is given in Table 1 and is complemented by Table 2, which lists all HT applicators that are commercially available and have been used in clinical thermochemotherapy trials.

2.3.1. Superficial hyperthermia

Localized heating of superficial tumors has been the largest clinical application of HT to date, owing to the accessibility for heating devices, thermometry and clinical observation. However, it has been used prevalently in protocols that combine HT with RT.

In general, superficial heating devices apply energy to heat a limited volume of tissue close to the heating device. Power deposition decreases exponentially as radio/microwaves penetrate through tissue. In general, higher MW frequencies provide localized heating of skin and superficial tissues, while the lower frequencies will heat larger and deeper regions in the body. The penetration depth from the skin surface, often defined in HT as half-power depth, is 10 cm at around 10 MHz. Superficial heating within 2–4 cm from the skin can be obtained by applying frequencies in the range of 400–1000 MHz.

The EM energy is directed to the treated volume by applicators placed on the surface with a water bolus, which provides EM coupling between the applicator and the body. The water in the bolus is circulated at a controlled temperature [45,46], thus protecting the skin from potential burns. Based on the MW frequency, often 434 or 915 MHz, the typical thermal penetration depth is 3 cm but can be increased to a maximum of 4 cm (at 434 MHz) by lowering the water bolus temperature [46]. Furthermore, it is important to be aware that large applicators achieve better penetration depth than small applicators operating at the same frequency. Covering of large tumors by desired thermal dose can be achieved by combining of several applicators into multi-element arrays where power output of each element can be controlled independently. As suggested in Table 2, EM applicators can be categorized in three classes: waveguide, microstrip, and electrodebased applicators. A more in-depth overview of the operating principles, strengths and weaknesses of superficial heating systems is given in [47], while more detailed description is provided by several reviews [48-50] and a dosimetric analysis for radiative and capacitive is given in [51].

2.3.2. Deep hyperthermia - external heating

An effective HT treatment aims to concentrate heat in the tumor area, while sparing surrounding healthy tissue from temperatures of 43–45 °C [52,53]. Beyond approximately 2 cm from the skin, the temperature goal is often better achieved with a phased-array approach, where an array of antennas is placed around the patient. The antennas are then suitably fed in amplitude and phase to create a constructive wave interference to selectively heat the target region. For all EM waves, a circumferential array is the optimum arrangement since this maximizes the interference of the transverse waves, i.e. with the electric field component of the EM wave oriented along the patient-axis (Fig. 1). The steering parameters of phased-arrays include the amplitude, Ophase and frequency of the antennas, which are optimized during treatment planning as discussed in section 4 and reviewed in references [54, 55].

The operating frequency is a critical parameter in a phased-array system. At first, it determines the penetration depth that is achievable with a certain system. Second, it also determines the size of the temperature focal spot, which is approximately one half of the wavelength. For the practical range of frequencies used in HT, the wavelengths in soft tissue vary from about 4.5 cm at 1000 MHz up to 2 *m* at the lower 1 MHz frequencies. The spatial resolution of higher frequencies can be achieved by increasing the number of antennas within the applicator, which

Table 1

Summary of electromagnetic-based hyperthermia techniques for cancer treatment.

Heating approach		Heating region	Typical frequency (f) & number of Antennas	Typical therapeutic heat focus (region at 40–44 °C)	
External	Whole body	Regional	f = 200-375 GHz	Whole body (38.5–40.5 °C for >3 h or 40.5–42 °C for1–2 h [43,44])	
	Superficial	Local (near the surface)	f = 400-1000 MHz one applicator (single or multi-antenna)	Block-shaped: footprint typically $10\times10\ cm^2$ Volume: 200–400 cm^3	
			f = 400-1000 MHz Combination of multiple applicators	Block-shaped: footprint typically 20×30 cm ² ; Volume: 120S0–2400 cm ³	ALAN ALAN
	Deep	Regional	f ≤ 100 MHz 4 antennas/channels Heat focus steering in radial direction	Ellipsoidal shape: 15–20 cm in the main (patient) axis Volume:1750–4000 cm ³	
		Locoregional	f = 100-300 MHz, 4-12 antennas/channels Heat focus steering in radial and axial direction	Ellipsoidal shape: 8–15 cm in the main (patient) axis Volume: 250–1750 cm ³	C C C
		Local	f = 300-1000 MHz 12 \leq antennas/channels Heat focus steering in radial and axial direction	Ellipsoidal shape: 1.5–8 cm in the main (patient) axis Volume: 15–250 cm ³	
Internal	Interstitial (deep)	Local	f = 27, 434, 915 MHz 3–16 antennas/channels	Volume: 30–120 cm ³	
	Intracavitary/Intraluminal (deep)	Local	f = 27, 434, 915 MHz 1 antenna	Volume: 5–30 cm ³ in case of bladder cancer, the complete 400-600 ml volume	

counteracts the lower penetration depth. Increasing the number of antennas further improves both penetration depth and the steering capabilities of the applicator. As shown in Table 2, the most common applicator is a phased-array system based on dipole or waveguide antennas. However, smaller alternatives such as the patch [56–58] or bow-tie [59,60] antennas are being utilized in yet uncommercialized devices.

Another approach to achieve heating at depth is to utilize capacitive systems. In this approach, the patient is positioned on a treatment bed with an embedded electrode while another electrode is placed on the patient. The electrodes connected to a high-power RF generator working at frequencies 8–40 MHz [61]. The heating pattern can be modulated installing electrodes with different dimensions, where the heating will be concentrated near the smaller electrode by concentrating the electric currents. When applying RF-capacitive heating, an important factor to consider is unintentional preferential heating of subcutaneous fat. Dedicated vigorous cooling strategies are being applied to enable heating beyond the fat [62].

The first, pioneering studies in semi-deep regions were performed with capacitive systems as those were believed the only ones to deliver effective proportion of energy in depth, were affordable and rather straightforward to use. The introduction of smaller antennas serving as applicator elements along with advances in treatment planning led to increased use of radiative systems, especially in Western countries. A number of simulation studies that studied differences in heating characteristics between capacitive and radiative systems and effect of these differences on heating quality has been recently performed and published [51,63]. A representative temperature distributions achieved with the two distinct techniques are shown in Fig. 2.

2.3.3. Deep hyperthermia – internal heating

Internal heating can be achieved via interstitial, intraluminal or intracavitary RF/MW applicators, which apply energy within a limited volume of tissue close to the heating device(s). Interstitial HT is often used in combination with brachytherapy; it uses a needleshaped antenna/electrode that is either implanted directly in tissue or inserted in catheters that are implanted into the target volume. Due to steep radial fall-off of energy is heating limited to radius of 5-10 mm from the applicator. Interstitial heating thus requires use of multiple applicators. Intraluminal and intracavitary techniques utilize the same heating concepts, but applicators are placed within tubular organs like esophagus and urethra (intraluminal) or natural body cavities like bladder or cervix (intracavitary). There is a high variety in applicator designs, ranging from MW antennas, capacitivelycoupled RF catheter-based electrodes, resistively-coupled RF local current field electrodes, ultrasound systems, as well as hot source techniques. A more in-depth overview of operating principles of

Table 2

List of MW/RF commercial medical devices used in clinical trials that combined adjuvant hyperthermia with chemotherapy. The references listed are the ones that best explain the physical principles of each MW/RF device.

	-							
	Device	Manufacturer, country	Applicator	Array description	HT delivery	Frequency (MHz)	Monitoring	References
Radiative	Alba 4D	Medlogix, IT	Alba 4D	1 ring with 4 waveguide antennas	External Deep Locoregional	70	4 or 8 thermocouple multi-sensors (56 sensors total) 1 optical <i>E</i> -field sensor	[88]
	Alba ON4000		Alfa, Beta, Gamma, Delta	1 or 2 contact curved microstrip antennas	External Superficial Local	434 8–32 ther 1 blood po doppler	8–32 thermocouples, 1 blood perfusion doppler	[89]
	BSD-500	Pyrexar Medical, US	MA-151, MA-100, MA-120	1 rectangular waveguide	External Superficial Local	915	8 thermistors	[49]
			SA-308, SA-510, SA-812, SA-248	3, 5, 8, or 24 Archimedean spiral antennas		1		[90]
			MA-251	1–24 dipole antenna wires driven by 8 channels	Interstitial Deep Local			[91]
	BSD-2000		Σ-30, Σ-60, Σ-Ellipse	1 ring with 4 dipole antenna pairs	External Deep Regional	75–140	8 thermistors, thermal mapping	[92]
			SA-115	1 Archimedean spiral antenna	External Superficial Local	98–140		[93]
	BSD-2000 3D		Σ-Eye	3 rings with 4 dipole antenna pairs per ring	External Deep Locoregional	100	8 thermistors, thermal mapping	[94]
	BSD-2000 3D/MR		Σ-30-MR, Σ-Eye-MR	1 or 3 rings with 4 dipole antenna pairs per ring	External Deep Locoregional	100	8 thermistors, thermal mapping, MR guidance	[95]
	Synergo® RITE	Medical Enterprises, NL	SB-TS 101	1 half wavelength not centrally fed skirt type antenna	Intracavitary Deep Local	915	3 thermocouples	[96]
	Yacht-3	JSC MC SEZ Istok, Fryazino, RU	4 rectangular a 1 circular mode 3 circular mode	ls	External 915 Superficial Local Intracavitary	Up to 18	N/A	
	Vacht 4		5 rectangular applicators		Deep Local		eep ocal	
	IdCIII-4	Cm-4				434		
			3 circular mode	15	Deep Local			(07)
Capacitive	Oncotherm	Oncotherm Kft., HU	EHY-1020 IL EHY-2030	Mobile electrode + stationary counter-electrode	Intracavitary Deep Local External	13.56	No monitoring available	[97]
			EHY-2000+		Regional			
	Thermotron	Yamamoto Vinita Co., Ltd., JP	RF8	1 pair of circular electrodes	External Deep Regional	8	5 thermocouples	[61]
	HY7000	Nanjing Greathope Co., Nanjing, CN	HY7000	2 pairs of perpendicular electrodes	External Deep Regional	40.68	Superficial readings only	[98]
	Incoherent Dual RF Hyperthermia System	Morestep Science & Technology Development Co., Ltd., Changchun, CN	NRL-001	2 pairs of perpendicular electrodes	External Deep Regional	30.32 or 40.68	Undefined number of thermocouples	[99]

internal heating techniques can be found in [64–66] while a list of clinical devices and their comparison is given in [67].

2.3.4. Applicator selection

Due to the strong correlation between applied thermal dose and therapeutic outcome, adequate temperature must be delivered for an appropriate period of time (approximately 60 min) to the entire tumor volume. Therefore, heating devices must be technically capable to deliver the required/planned thermal dose into the specified target volume, while minimizing heating of the surrounding healthy tissues. Based on the specific target volume and location, an appropriate heating technique from Table 1 in combination with the listed critical points can be selected as the first step to plan a treatment. Nevertheless, various RF/MW systems have unique characteristics, benefits and limitations that need to be further considered. The recent ESHO Quality Assurance



Fig. 1. Example of two RF hyperthermia systems: radiative-based BSD-2000 3D/MR courtesy of Pyrexar Medical, USA (left); and capacitive-based Thermotron RF-8EX courtesy of Yamamoto Vinita, Japan.

guidelines for superficial, interstitial and deep HT [47,67–69] can further help the user to identify clinical conditions where a particular heating device can be used. Critical points for applicator selection are:

- 1) Tumor depth below the tissue surface Due to exponential decrease of power deposition, the applicator selection is strongly dependent on the tumor depth. For tumors located deeper than 3–4 cm, phased-array applicators should be used but the penetration depth of the radio/microwaves determines the selection of the working frequency even in this situation. The frequencies applied clinically are in the range 70 to 140 MHz for tumors located in the pelvic region [70], and 434 MHz for head and neck region [71]. Devices using internal RF/MW sources can be used if suitable. Treatment planning tools can be valuable to find the most appropriate technique [72].
- 2) Tumor size The applicator must be capable to heat the entire target volume. In case of superficial applicators, an applicator with thermal effective field size (TEFS) that covers the complete target volume should be used. The size of TEFS is often limited by the footprint of the aperture. In case of phased arrays, the operational frequency influences the special resolution of power deposition and should be carefully chosen. In case that the applicator cannot cover the whole target volume, multiple abutting fields should be outlined to cover the target entirely, and then administered sequentially.
- 3) Proximity to adjacent critical normal tissue structures HT treatment planning is recommended in cases where the tumor is adjacent to critical tissues or adjacent to metallic/breast implants. Implants are not cooled with blood perfusion and metallic implants concentrate electric currents, potentially giving rise to unwanted local hot spots that can be treatment-limiting. Treatment planning



Fig. 2. Sagittal slices of simulated temperature distributions for patients with fat layer <2 cm with cancers in different sites (cervix, prostate, bladder and rectum) heated with 13.56 MHz capacitive electrodes and with conventional 70 MHz radiative device (AMC-4). The maximum temperature in all distributions is 44 °C. The total power absorbed in the patient (P_{tot}) and in the target region (P_{target}) is indicated for each distribution. Slices were taken approximately through the center of the patient. The contour in the temperature distributions indicates the target region. Reprinted from open access reference [63].

is also recommended for superficial and intracavitary/interstitial HT [73]. When applying RF-capacitive heating, caution must be taken to prevent unintended heating of the fat tissue layer. In deep HT, the adaptive optimization algorithms that have been developed in recent years are powerful tool to achieve high tumor temperatures even in challenging cases [54,55].

2.3.5. Comparison to other techniques

Applicators based on RF/MW technology are currently the most commonly used when treating cancer patients with HT. During the last few years there has been a growing interest for using ultrasound (US) to induce HT, due to its higher penetration depth and mm-scale focusing capabilities [74]. Initially developed to thermally ablate (>55 °C) small tumors [75,76], focused ultrasound (FUS) can ablate up to ~16 mm tumors by focus steering, and larger tumors by sequentially ablating the whole volume. FUS for mild-to-moderate temperatures of 40–44 °C, i.e. HT, has been proven promising in small animal tumors (<1.3cm³) [76–78], but application in humans is still undergoing clinical trials [79–81]. Compared to US, RF/MW techniques have the highest potential to cover and treat tumors larger than 4 cm and in regions near the skin, bone structures or air cavities. A more detailed coverage of the potential for FUS hyperthermia can be found in [81].

2.4. Treatment monitoring

Thermal dose monitoring is a critical instance of the HT treatment that enables to control and evaluate in real-time the quality of the treatment. The invasive measurements in tumor-related reference points are still regarded by many clinicians as a gold standard. Multiple sensors are either placed to measure temperatures across the treated area, or cyclically pulled through catheters to map temperatures in invasively placed catheters or across the skin surface (thermal mapping). Stationary probes are typically used as references for real-time feedback power control to maintain temperatures in the target between 40.0 and 42 °C for 30-60 min, as is optimal for enhancing perfusion as well as thermal sensitization, and simultaneously below 44.0 °C in healthy tissues to avoid overheating. Often, manual intervention by the operator is needed to trigger adjusting the power to keep temperatures within the desired range. Techniques that are used to assess temperatures during HT treatment include thermistors, fiber-optic probes and thermocouples [69,82].

Unfortunately, invasive thermometry approaches typically involve the use of only a few monitoring positions, which often result in under sampling of temperatures in areas with significant temperature gradients [83]. Moreover, the insertion of intratumoral thermometers may restrict the number of patients being treated with HT due to potential complications associated with the invasive procedure. The recent trend in thermal dosimetry for deep-seated and regional HT is the use of non-invasive techniques based on MR. However at this moment this approach is not standard in the clinic and clinical trials on RF/MW hyperthermia. Non-invasive techniques based on MR are described in detail in chapter 4.

Besides temperature, other relevant clinical parameters to be monitored include blood flow (units L/min) and blood perfusion rate (units kg/s/m³ or mL/min/kg), where the latter reflects the blood perfusion in the microcirculation bed. Note that in response to heating, blood perfusion is upregulated by the body to reduce tissue temperature back to the homeostatic set-point. Real-time measurement of the temperature and/or perfusion enables to adjust the applied power to maintain the desired temperature elevation. Chemotherapy benefits from HT due to increased blood perfusion in tumors that is accommodated with increased permeability of the tumor blood vessels, thus improving the leakage of drugs where heating is occurring [84]. Monitoring blood perfusion and/or blood flow can be estimated based on dedicated measurements with invasive thermometry [85] but is currently commercially only available for the Alba ON4000 superficial unit (Table 2) using doppler techniques. Another approach to monitor blood perfusion is to use contrast enhanced (DCE) magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which has been used to predict response of locally advanced breast cancer patients to neoadjuvant chemotherapy and HT [86]. The contrast of DCE-MRI distorts MR thermometry and good signal-to-noise imaging is required, which is not readily available for EM applicators.

Finally, hyperthermia treatments are generally conducted without anesthesia or sedation. This is critical for two reasons: 1) patients can provide feedback about pain induced by hot spots, thus improving safety profile of the treatment; and 2) anesthesia impairs normal thermoregulatory function (see e.g. [87]), which limits the ability to increase blood perfusion as a response to higher therapeutic temperatures. The exceptions are for whole body hyperthermia, which is conducted with deep sedation or general anesthesia [43], and for hyperthermia treatments in children, where mild to deeper sedation is provided to reduce anxiety and restlessness [8].

3. Clinical applications of RF and MW mediated hyperthermia

HT has been successfully used in combination with radiation therapies since the 70s. The pioneering work on cervical [100], breast [101], head and neck cancer [102] has defined the basis for present protocols and acceptance of hyperthermia. The most recent overview of randomized trials and metanalyses combining hyperthermia with radiation is given in references [5,103]. Following a similar trend, adjuvant HT has rapidly expanded its use to increase local drug delivery and local cytotoxicity of systemically administered chemotherapeutic agents. A comprehensive summary of trials primarily combining hyperthermia with chemotherapy is however currently missing. Thus, this section summarizes the clinical trials that studied the effect of HT as adjuvant to chemotherapy (CT), or chemoradiation (CRT) if chemo-stimulation was the goal, i.e., chemotherapy plus HT (CHT) and chemoradiation plus HT (RCHT). In this section, we only included those trials where HT was delivered with RF/MW devices. The commercially available devices used in these clinical trials are listed in Table 2, while details about other devices no longer available are given as a footnote.

3.1. Bladder cancer

Colombo et al. conducted a multi-center randomized trial comparing the use of mitomycin C alone and in combination with the Synergo intracavitary MW device for the treatment of non-muscle invasive bladder cancer [104]. At 2-year follow-up, 83 patients were accrued and the recurrence-free survival in the combined arm was significantly higher: 82.9% (CHT) vs. 42.5% (CT). The long-term outcomes were reported in 2011: 10-year disease-free survival (DFS) was 52.8% for CHT vs. 14.6% for CT; and bladder preservation rates were 86% for CHT and 79% for CT [7]. The use of regional HT with intravesical mitomycin C was analyzed in a pilot study (n = 18) with the external AMC 70 MHz device using 1 or 2 rings of four waveguide antennas per ring. This device was the precursor of the commercially available Alba 4D. The recurrent-free survival was 78% at 24 months without any grade 3 or higher toxicities [105]. Another pilot study (n = 45) analyzed the combination of regional HT (BSD-2000 3D), radiation and chemotherapy (cisplatin, 5-fluorouracil, carboplatin, or paclitaxel) to treat high-risk T1 and T2 bladder cancer [106]. Grade 3 and 4 sequelae were reported in 24% of the patients, but overall survival (80%) and bladderpreserving rate (96%) at 3 years follow up were quite encouraging.

3.2. Sarcomas

In 2010, Issels et al. reported a phase III multi-center European Organization of Research and Treatment of Cancer (EORTC) trial in localized high-risk-soft-tissue sarcoma. This was a large trial with 341 patients randomized to receive a three-drug-regimen alone or with regional HT using BSD-2000 equipment [107]. Treatment response was significantly improved in the CHT group with 28.8% responders compared to 12.7% for the CT regimen alone. A recent follow-up of this trial reported prolonged survival rates in CHT when compared with CT alone: 10-year survival of 52.6% vs 42.7% [6]. The results indicate that regional HT from an RF array applicator combined with the three-drug-regimen can be given safely with moderate and acceptable toxicity, accompanied by significantly improved clinical response. Another clinical trial studied the multimodality RCHT treatment using the Thermotron RF-8 device combined with cisplatin and pinorubin as drugs [108]. Tumor shrinkage was observed in 43 out of 44 patients (98%) and there was recurrence in only one patient. Of the 36 patients who presented M0 tumors (i.e., no disease in distant sites), 30 were disease-free at final follow-up and 2 had no evidence of disease.

3.3. Head and neck cancer

Three randomized trials studied the effects of tri-modality RCHT vs. conventional RCT for treating nasopharyngeal carcinoma [109–111]. Hua et al. used cisplatin +5-fluorouracil with an intracavitary 915 MHz device,² Kang et al. used cisplatin only with external 915 MHz radiators,³ and Zhao used cisplatin + paclitaxel with external RF capacitive 13.56 MHz HT.⁴ All studies showed significantly improved outcomes with added RF/MW HT. Local control rates increased from 12.2% (RCT) to 19.2% (RCHT); 5-year survival increased from 7.9% to 18.4% with HT; 5-year progression-free survival increased 9.6% [109]; 5-year DFS increased 30.8% [110]; and average DFS increased from 37.5 to 78 months [111]. Two of these studies evaluated complete response (CR), reporting that the addition of HT increased CR from 81.1% to 98.6% in one study [109] and from 62.8% to 81.6% in the other [110]. Quality of life (QoL) was assessed by Zhao et al. and patients that received HT showed significantly improved QoL scores [111]. Furthermore, Datta et al. performed a systematic review and metaanalysis of RT + HT in the management of head and neck cancers using RF/MW devices [102]. Although the role of CT was not included, the authors highlighted that various phase I/II trials and preclinical studies have shown that a tri-modality therapy adding cisplatin with HT + RT can achieve a synergistic effect that can translate into clinical efficacy.

3.4. Esophageal cancer

Three randomized studies demonstrated an advantage in the treatment of esophageal cancer when adding HT to CT or RCT [112-114]. In one of these studies, 53 patients were treated with HT using the intraluminal Endoradiotherm 100A device⁵ (13.56 MHz internal electrode + external planar electrode) and histopathologic response was significantly improved in the tri-modality arm: 66.7% vs. 38.5% [112]. In addition, 70.4% of patients treated with RCHT stated an improvement in swallowing capability, while only 7.7% of patients reported improvement in the RCT group. In a follow-up study [113], an additional 40 patients were randomized between CT and CHT yielding a favorable histopathologic response for the dual-modality CHT treatment (41.2%) vs. CT alone (18.8%). A third randomized trial used an intraluminal 915 MHz microwave applicator (model undisclosed) for heating, which reported a 3-year survival rate of 42.4% in the RHT group vs. 24.2% for RT alone [114]. Kuwano et al. conducted the largest clinical trial to date (n = 243) studying the effects of intraluminal RF HT combined with chemotherapy and irradiation on esophageal cancer overall survival (OS) [115]. Both pathological CR (8.4% vs. 19.1%) and 5-year OS (13.7% vs. 22.3%) where significantly higher in the RCHT group, when compared with the standard of care. More recent single-arm studies of adjuvant heat have further validated extended survival in esophageal cancer patients with 5-year OS of 50.0% (n = 24) [116] and 3-year OS of 42.5% (n = 50) [117]. Toxicities were reported to be tolerable and limited to grade 2 or 3 in all studies. Nakajima et al. [116] used the Endoradiotherm 100A device and Sheng et al. [117] used a RF capacitive heating device based on a spiral strip applicator design (unknown frequency).⁶

3.5. Rectal cancer

In a retrospective study of 106 patients treated with 5-fluorouracil and radiation with/without hyperthermia (BSD-2000 system), the pathological CR (pCR) in the RCT group was seen only in 6.7% of patients, whereas in the RCHT group a pCR of 16.4% was achieved [118]. These results were even more impressive when analyzing the subset of patients that received four or more HT treatments, who presented a significantly higher pathological CR of 22.5%. Despite these encouraging results in terms of pCR, translation to improved local control and/or overall survival still needs to be determined. In a retrospective trial of neoadjuvant RCT with regional HT using the BSD-2000 system, Maluta et al. observed a local control rate of 100% at 5-year follow-up for all patients who achieved pSCR (18 of 76) [119]. In two more recent phase II trials, the use of capecitabine, radiation and capacitive HT was analyzed yielding impressive results. Barsukov et al. accrued 64 patients and used an RF capacitive 14 MHz device,⁷ adding oxaliplatin and metronidazole to a capecitabine regimen: the 2-year OS and DFS was 91% and 83%, respectively [120]. Using only capecitabine and an intracavitary 433 MHz Yachta-4 device, Rasulov et al. achieved in 81 patients a 97% 3-year OS and 85% 2-year DFS regimen [121] in a single arm study.

3.6. Anal cancer

The clinical benefit of adding intracavitary HT (customized 433 MHz dipole antenna) to a RCT regimen was explored in a randomized trial in anal cancer patients [122]. After a 5-year follow up, 68.0% of the patients in the CT arm had sphincter preservation, whereas 95.8% of the patients in the RCHT arm preserved their anorectal function and avoided permanent colostomy. In the HT arm, locoregional recurrence was significantly higher (32.0% vs 4.2%), and the local recurrence-free survival time was also significantly higher (59.7% vs 50.4%). A more recent non-randomized trial compared RCT with and without deep regional HT (BSD-2000 3D and BSD-2000 3D/MR) in patients with anal cancer [123]. The chemo regimen included 5-fluorouracil and mitomycin C. After 5 years follow-up, disease-free (89.1 vs. 70.4%), local recurrencefree (97.7 vs. 78.7%), colostomy-free (87.7 vs. 69.0%), and overall survival rates (95.8 vs. 74.5%) were significantly better for the RCHT group. Grades 3-4 toxicities were comparable except for hematotoxicity (66 vs. 43%) and telangiectasia (38.0 vs. 16.1%) that were higher in the RCHT group.

3.7. Lung cancer

Shen et al. randomized 80 patients to gemcitabine and cisplatin with and without heat administrated by the capacitive RF regional heating using the HY7000 device [124] for the treatment of non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC). Although there was no significant difference in response rates, the clinical benefit response (a clinical index used with incurable tumors to assess improvement in quality of life) was significantly higher in the CHT group: 82.5% versus 47.5%. Using the same trial modality and heating device, Yang et al. evaluated retrospectively the medical records of 93 patients with advanced NSCLC [98], where the overall response rate of pleural effusions was significantly better in the CHT (81.2%) group than in the CT group (40.0%). The patients in the CHT group also presented lower incidence rate of weakness

² WE2102-A MW hyperthermia system, Yuan De Biomedical Engineering, Beijing

³ Pingliang 778WR-L-4 MW hyperthermia machine, Sunostick Medical Technology Co., Ltd., London, UK

 ⁴ HG-2000-type RF applicator, Zhuhai Hokai Medical Instruments, Guangzhou, China
⁵ Endoradiotherm 100A, Olympus Optical Co. Ltd., Japan

⁶ HRL-001, Jilin Maida, China

⁷ Yagel, JSC MC SEZ Istok, Fryazino, Russia

(12.5% vs. 46.7%) and gastrointestinal adverse reactions (25.0% vs. 77.8%) than in the CT group. No significant differences were shown in the objective tumor response and survival rates. Wang et al. [125] performed a clinical study with the NRL-001 RF regional heating device using the same drugs (gemcitabine and cisplatin) in 119 patients with advanced NSCLC, but adding a third treatment arm with radiation. A remarkable curative rate was achieved with tri-modality treatment: 90.7% (RCHT) vs. 72.8% (RCT) and 62.2% (RT). Although toxicity increased in the RCHT group, it was reported to be tolerable or readily alleviated with short-term symptomatic treatment. Overall, patients treated in the tri-modality arm achieved significant higher quality of life and improvement in alleviation of tumor oppression syndrome.

3.8. Other cancers

Datta et al. performed a network meta-analysis (NMA) of four different treatment regimens for cervical cancer: RT. RHT. RCT. and RCHT [126]. The pairwise comparison of various groups showed that RCHT was the best option for both CR and patient survival. A wide range of RF/MW heating devices were used for these studies including regional heating with either capacitive or radiative RF systems or intracavitary heating with custom-built coaxial applicators. In 1984, the use of 2.45 GHz local irradiation using an intracavitary device was explored in combination with a bleomycin + mitomycin C regimen to treat vaginal cancer. The positive response rate increased to 59.5% compared with 19.2% when using CT alone. Two pilot studies explored the use of thermally enhanced drug delivery using low temperature liposomal doxorubicin in heavily pretreated patients with chest wall recurrences [13]. Heating was achieved with BSD-500 equipment that uses multiple microwave applicators that heat up to 3 cm deep. These trials demonstrated safety and objective responses in heavily pretreated patients with chest wall recurrence. A recent systematic review compared 14 phase I/II clinical studies (n = 395) on locally advanced and/or metastatic pancreatic cancer patients that used adjuvant HT [127]. Patients were treated with regional capacitive/radiative RF HT (n = 189), intracavitary MW HT (n =39) or whole-body HT (WBH) using infrared radiant heat devices (n =20), in combination with radiation, chemotherapy or both. A control group was included in six studies that showed a longer OS in the HT groups than in the control groups: 11.7 vs. 5.6 months. In three studies with a control group, the overall response rate was also improved for the HT groups: 43.9% vs. 35.3%. Finally, the BSD applicators Sigma-30/ 40/60 were used in combination with CT to treat children with refractory or recurrent non-testicular malignant germ-cell tumors that failed a standard cisplatin regimen [8]. The new chemo regimen was based on a combination of cisplatin, etoposide, and ifosfamide, also known as PEI regimen. The treatment also included surgical resection or radiation to patients with incomplete tumor resection. Of the 35 patients who had sufficient data available for response assessment, 86% had an objective response to treatment and the 5-year OS was 72%. This multimodal treatment using regional HT proved to successfully treat children and adolescents with refractory or recurrent malignant non-testicular germ-cell tumors.

3.9. Summary of clinical trials

The use of MW/RF HT in combination with different chemotherapy regimens has proved its merit and warrants further investigation. Table 3 lists all active Phase I/II, Phase II, and Phase III trials that are exploring the use of MW/RF HT, either radiative or capacitive, in combination with chemotherapy or immunotherapy regimens. We used these criteria and performed a search in the ClinicalTrials.gov using "cancer" under "Condition or disease" and "(immunotherapy OR chemotherapy)

Table 3

Active phase II and III clinical trials that combined adjuvant hyperthermia therapy (HT) with chemotherapy (CT) or chemoradiotherapy (CRT) using RF/MW hyperthermia devices.

Clinical trial (estimated dates)	Trial design	Ν	Arms	Device	Drugs	Disease
NCT-01077427 (2012–2021)	III, R	336	$\mathrm{CT}\pm\mathrm{HT}$	BSD-2000 3D \pm MR	Gemcitabine Capecitabine Cisplatin	Resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma
NCT-01716949 (2012–2021)	I/II, R	59	$\begin{array}{c} \text{CRT} \pm \\ \text{HT} \end{array}$	BSD-2000 3D \pm MR	5-Fluorouracil Capecitabine Oxaliplatin	Primary locally advanced/recurrent rectal cancer
NCT-02369939 (2014–2021)	III, R	118	$CRT \pm HT$	BSD-2000 3D \pm MR	Mitomycin C 5-Fluorouracil	Anal carcinoma
NCT-03332069 (2014–2019)	III, R	236	CRT ± HT	EHY-2000+	Cisplatin	Locally advanced cervical cancer
NCT-02359474 (2015-N/A)	III, R	120	$\text{CT} \pm \text{HT}$	BSD-2000 3D \pm MR	Trabectedin	Advanced soft-tissue Sarcoma
NCT-02567383 (2015-2020)	II, single-arm	45	CRT + HT	Thermotron RF-8	Cisplatin Taxotere	Recurrent head and neck cancer
NCT-02862015 (2016–2019)	II, R	100	$\text{CT} \pm \text{HT}$	EHY-2000+	Folfirinox Gemcitabine	Metastatic pancreatic cancer
NCT-02439593 (2017-2021)	II, R	78	$CRT \pm HT$	BSD-2000 & BSD-2000 3D	Gemcitabine	Locally advanced pancreatic cancer
NCT-03249519 (2017-N/A)	N/A, single-arm	N/A	$CRT \pm HT$	BSD-2000 & BSD-2000 3D	Cisplatin	Advanced cervical cancer
NCT-03393858 (2017–2020)	I/II, single-arm	40	IT + HT	Thermotron RF-8EX	Anti-PD-1 antibody Biological: DC-CIK IT	Advanced malignant mesothelioma
NCT-03561142 (2018-2024)	II, single-arm	94	CRT + HT	BSD-2000 3D \pm MR	5-Fluorouracil Oxaliplatin Folinic acid	Locally advanced rectal cancer
NCT-03757858 (2018-2020)	I/II, NR	80	$\mathrm{IT}\pm\mathrm{HT}$	Thermotron RF-8	Anti-PD-1 antibody Adoptive cellular IT	Abdominal and Pelvic Malignancies or Metastases
NCT-03335059 (2019-2025)	III, single-arm	106	CT + HT	Synergo SB-TS 101	Mitomycin C	Non-muscle invasive bladder cancer
NCT04172675 (2020-2022)	II, R	280	$\text{CT} \pm \text{HT}$	Synergo SB-TS 101	Erdafitinib Gemcitabine, Mitomycin C	Non-muscle invasive bladder cancer
NCT03249519 Recruiting	N/A	N/A	$\begin{array}{c} \text{CRT} \pm \\ \text{HT} \end{array}$	BSD-500 interstitial	Cisplatin	Cervical cancer

N, estimated patient enrollment; N/A, data not available; R, randomized; NR, non-randomized; IT, immunotherapy; PD-1, Programmed cell death protein 1; DC-CIK, dendritic cells mixed with cytokine-induced killer cells.



Fig. 3. Hyperthermia Treatment Planning (HTP) workflow. Reprinted from [54].

AND hyperthermia" under "Other terms" on March 16, 2020. This search yield 241 clinical trials, of which the vast majority were either related to hyperthermic chemoperfusion methods or included some synonymous of hyperthermia (fever, febrile, temperature elevation, or heat treatment) not related to a cancer treatment. The other trials excluded from the list used focused ultrasound and laser hyperthermia.

4. Potential for RF and microwave mediated hyperthermia and drug delivery

Current RF/MW hyperthermia treatments are driven by qualitative patient complaints and are limited by very few measured temperature points. In order to make a more complete and quantitative assessment of the heated treatment field, there are two avenues that can extend our knowledge of the applied energy (SAR in W/kg) and temperature distributions in tissue: computer simulations and magnetic resonance (MR) thermometry. Computer simulations use numerical methods 3D patient-specific anatomical models to generate SAR and temperature maps. The simulations are typically used to generate a pre-treatment plan, but the same tools are also used for online treatment guidance. Such simulation-guided HT uses a feedback optimization scheme that is updated with the signals applied to the antennas, the measured temperatures, and feedback from patients, so that treatment settings are adapted in real-time to optimize the treatment delivery [85]. The most advanced thermal assessment for HT is MR thermometry (MRT), which provides 3D temperature maps superimposed with the patient anatomy [128]. Ishihara et al. developed the framework for the most used method to calculate MRT, the proton resonance frequency shift method [129]. This method allows to obtain MRT maps from MR phase data [130]. These maps are currently obtained about every 10 min or 15 min and only now are starting to be used in HT treatment guidance. The last possible iteration of MR-HT guidance is to combine simulations with MRT, thus providing the ultimate level of dosimetry before, during and after treatment. These tools facilitate rigorous temperature control and simulation-based heating adjustment possibilities, which is a requirement for optimal enhancement of drug delivery of conventional systemic chemotherapy and/or temperature mediated drugs [74].

4.1. Simulation-guided hyperthermia

Clinical application of HT is usually delivered after performing patient-specific HT treatment planning (HTP) [54,55]. The latest advancements on HTP have been driven by enhanced computer capabilities and recent advancement in computational algorithms. The HTP process begins by acquiring 3D images of the patient anatomy comprising the treatment volume, obtained from computed tomography and/or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). The following step is to delineate the different tissues, where the required number of tissues and the level of detail of the delineation depends on the desired accuracy, which varies for each application. For deep HT, the tissues usually segmented include muscle, fat, bone and internal air [131]. Head and neck treatments involve more critical structures that 11 additional tissues are discriminated [132]. The end result is a patients-specific model that will feed the simulation phase.

In the next step, the patient virtual model is imported into a multiphysics simulation software that already has the virtual HT applicator design. Then, dielectric and thermal properties are assigned to each tissue, including physiological parameters like blood perfusion rate (units of kg/s/m³) and metabolic heat generation rate (units of W/m^3). The final step is then to perform the SAR and temperature simulations and optimize the antenna parameters to target the patient tumor. The Pennes bioheat method is commonly used to compute the temperature profile in the tissue [33]. The position of the patient model relative to the applicator will be documented and should be reproduced during the actual treatment to deliver the planned optimized treatment. Fig. 3 shows the Schematic workflow for EM-HTP, using head and neck hyperthermia as an example.

The patient-specific HTP is a robust tool for treatment decision making, i.e., whether to treat or not, since it facilitates evaluating the ability to heat a specific tumor and to identify potential hotspots before performing the treatment. In addition, HTP can help physicians to conduct the treatment and perform real-time adaptations to the treatment to respond to patient complaints. Besides treatment planning and optimization, HTP is also a valuable tool for the development of medical devices, training of HT personnel, and post-treatment dosimetry to evaluate the delivered treatment strategy. The only commercial package for HTP currently available is HyperPlan (Sennewald Medizintechnik, Munich, Germany), which allows to optimize treatment settings using electromagnetic and thermal simulators for the BSD-2000 applicator series. More general electromagnetic and thermal solvers like Sim4Life (ZMT Zurich MedTech AG, Zurich, Switzerland), CST Studio Suite (Dassault Systèmes, Vélizy-Villacoublay Cedex, France) and ANSYS (Canonsburg, Pennsylvania, US) are also used to perform electromagnetic and thermal simulations.

HT treatment guidance using real-time simulations has greatly benefited from the introduction of various HTP platforms, including VEDO, the visualization tool for electromagnetic dosimetry and optimization [133], and Plan2Heat [134]. In a retrospective analysis of treatment reports of 35 patients treated with deep HT controlled by extensive treatment planning, it was demonstrated, that HTP is able to provide a global indication of the regions where hotspots during treatment will most likely occur [135]. A recent advancement of HTP, is patient-complaint guided steering, where heating is steered from a region of complaint by adding constraint factors for that region. Amplitude and phase of each individual element can be re-optimized to maintain the optimum tumor dose while minimizing the heating in the area of complaint [131,133,134].

4.2. Mr-guided hyperthermia

HT treatments are monitored using a limited number of superficial or invasive thermometry probes using stationary measurements or measuring along the implanted catheter track. In time, MRI has developed from a diagnostic imaging tool into a treatment guidance modality, i.e., magnetic resonance thermometry (MRT) [136]. MRT provides the option of 3D non-invasive temperature monitoring of the full treatment region, including tumor and surrounding tissues. Hence, MR-HT hybrid systems can operate within the MR bore to facilitate MRT during treatment. Besides providing assurance of effective steering, the 3D temperature data is also used to evaluate hotspots, i.e., regions that are getting too hot in healthy tissue. The operator can then adjust the heating patterns to protect healthy tissue and avoid patient discomfort and pain that, if unaccounted for, may lead to unwanted side effects such as burns. An example of MR-guided hyperthermia is illustrated in Fig. 4.

Besides temperature monitoring, MRI is being explored to capture other patient parameters relevant for HT, including electrical tissue properties [137], diffusion [138] and blood perfusion [139,140]. At the moment, HTP simulations are based on parameters from literature, which are typically the result of an average of limited data and measured ex vivo. Thus, acquiring of the 3D patient-specific properties, together with accurate and reproducible patient positioning, makes the use of MR a very attractive addition to HT treatments. Finally, MR can also accurately reproduce changes of body shape due to pressure of the water bolus for a more accurate modelling of tissue position relative to the applicator [141]. To this date, MR-HT systems are only available for deep HT, and it use has been reported for the treatment of pelvic and extremities tumors (BSD2000-3D/MR) [128,142,143] and lower extremities (MAPA) [144–146]. An extensive review of clinical and preclinical MR-HT applicators can be found in [147,148].

MR can also be a relevant tool to validate mathematical models, which are being evaluated to predict the effect of HT and specific chemotherapeutic agents. A recent study with heat-shock response models support the belief that the combination of HT with bortezomib, a clinically approved proteasome inhibitor, increase therapy efficacy [149]. Mathematical models are also being developed to predict the spatial drug delivery profile of temperature sensitive liposomes [150,151]. The combination of improved modelling approaches, more powerful and faster computations and real-time monitoring will accelerate the evolution of HTP leading to improved delivery of clinical HT treatments. Some of the current main limitations of MRT include the high cost of the MR system and difficulty in maintaining stable temperature measurements over long durations ~60–90 min due to motion artifacts (respiratory motion, organ motion and air travelling), and magnetic field drift artifacts [130,152]. The advancement of MR monitoring will facilitate the optimization of temperature kinetics of drugs to deliver a local treatment. Automatic MR-based feedback loop control are currently being evaluated to adapt the hyperthermia treatment for a patient specific session [147]. This aims to optimize the treatment with the objective of delivering the best thermal dose while preventing the generation of treatment limiting undesired hotspots. Hence, MR-guided HT can play an unprecedented role in localizing heat that can be tailored to temperature sensitive nanocarriers loaded with a chemo- or immunotherapy payload. This multimodality treatment can lead to significantly more targeted drug delivery and reduce side effects, which can facilitate increasing the number of patients treated with thermochemotherapy or thermoimmunotherapy.

5. Future outlook

RF and MW HT devices have been the golden standard for clinical studies using thermal therapies for multi-modality cancer treatment. Yet, thermal dose-effect studies indicate that an even higher therapeutic outcome is achievable when higher temperatures are reached. In this review, we report on devices that use higher frequency EM waves, i.e. MW and RF, which are under development and/or being translated into the clinic [59,71,153–156]. These devices can induce a smaller heat focus then current RF based systems [157,158], which can be dynamically adjusted to conformal heating of irregular target regions [159].

Target conformal heating requires tight dose monitoring to ensure that the heat focus is precisely aimed and maintained at the target region. Hence, researchers are investigating improved approaches for (real-time) and 3D dosimetry. As explained, treatment planning has matured and is being studied for pre-treatment planning as well as for real-time guidance. In addition, following an earlier clinical adoption in (FUS-induced) ablation therapy [160,161], MRT is slowly starting to make its mark also in HT. The developments in simulation and MRT guided treatment are expected to reinforce each other since MRT forms the tool required to validate treatment planning in 3D. In addition, validated treatment planning simulations not only provide the tool for guiding treatment but also provides the tool to design better applicators, create treatment and quality assurance guidelines, perform better training and develop new treatment approaches. Following these developments, and in view of cost and complexity of treatment, we expect that two distinct approaches will appear that will co-exist:

MR thermometry map



Tumor segmentation in T-1 image

Fig. 4. Example of MR guided hyperthermia. The left panel shows the T-1 image with the delineated sarcoma on the leg, the right panel shows the MR-thermometry map at the end of the treatment. Courtesy of Dr. Sennewald Medizintechnik GmbH (Germany).

1) the simulation-adaptive HT approach that provides a relatively lowcost means to stimulate a range of cytotoxic drugs and 2) a personalized high-precision MR-adaptive approach based on advanced MR-guided HT.

Simulation-adaptive HT will be based on HT with RF or MW techniques and will exploit our increasing knowledge of thermoregulation. This knowledge will be included into advanced treatment planning software tools to pre-plan the treatment and perform real-time guidance. Monitoring will be based on a combination of interstitial, intraluminal and/or intracavitary thermometry with 3D treatment planning. To improve the effectiveness of the combination of HT and drugs, this line would strongly benefit from advancing our knowledge on temperature dependent perfusion to enable optimizing the temperature distribution. This approach already exists in the academic setting and will be improved to speed-up the learning curve for new clinics entering this field. In addition, approaches like automatic segmentation will reduce the time-consuming labor of treatment planning and the required expertise, thus facilitating smooth dissemination of simulation-adaptive HT to non-academic clinics.

The most advanced high-precision MR-adaptive HT, will probably remain an approach for academic centers in the upcoming decade. The utility of MR-adaptive HT is still in its infancy and its development will be strongly correlated with progress in MRT, especially in regions where measurements are affected by respiratory, cardiac or peristaltic driven motion or other actions that imply organ/tissue movement such as swallowing. Hence, MRT guided HT crucially depends on motion-robust MRT at an accuracy better than 1 °C [162-164] since the aim is to increase temperature by only 3-7 °C. The maximum achievable accuracy of MRT is dictated strongly by the time required to capture a full MRT scan. For anatomical MR imaging, averaging of multiple measurements is usually used to obtain the required signalto-noise ratio (SNR) per scan [165]. This approach is not possible for MRT since averaging effects (over a single scan) should be minimized as they will increase motion artifacts and reduce the temporal accuracy of the temperature measurements. In this respect, first generation MR-HT systems are using the body coil of the MR scanner leading to a limited SNR performance [166]. More recent approaches use dedicated imaging coils nearby the skin of the patient for higher SNR as well as exploitation of faster, i.e. parallel, imaging approaches, which are based on the spatial differences between receive coil sensitivities. Recent investigation have also explored different MR excitation schemes to accelerate image reconstruction in 2D and 3D [167,168], and to monitor temperature changes in fatty and aqueous tissue simultaneously [169]. The actual improvement of these methods for the hyperthermia application are yet to be validated in the clinical setting.

MRI has other features of which the utility for controlling HT is currently being investigated. Firstly, MRI provides anatomy contrast that is unprecedented in the imaging field. Hence, MRI is optimally suited to verify patient positioning inside the applicator, as basis for adapting treatment planning in real-time and to monitor the tumor regression/ progression during the course of therapy. In addition, a range of MRI techniques exist, with or without contrast enhancement, to visualize physiological properties like blood perfusion during therapy. When applied in conjunction with chemotherapy, this approach might enable feedback-controlled image-guided drug delivery approaches. Hence, MR guided therapy is especially beneficial when used to sensitize for drugs and/or improve delivery homogeneity.

MR-guidance may play another important role when using thermosensitive liposomes [74]. These liposomes can be filled with a mix of MR contrast fluid and drugs for calibrating the MRT [170] or for close drug delivery monitoring. Note that the validity of the latter approach for monitoring drug delivery is determined by the similarity in diffusion depth from vessel into the tissue of the molecules for monitoring and delivery. Note also that MRT accuracy can be affected by paramagnetic contrast agents [171]. Still, recent studies have shown that, at ultra-high-field MRI (\geq 7 T), visualizing metabolism is possible to more precisely track tumor activity [172]. This approach can even be enhanced when expanding the imaging to more multi-nuclei, i.e., using not only hydrogen but also phosphorus atoms, which provides information similar to positron emission tomography (PET) and may also improve MRT [173]. Pre-clinical evidence suggests that this may strongly enhance sensitivity for aberrant metabolism, which is known to correlate with tumor aggressiveness. However, whether MR-HT devices can deliver on this potential is currently unknown. Still, there are many opportunities for MR-adaptive HT using the plethora of anatomical, physiological and metabolic MRI contrasts. The MR-guided RF and MW HT devices currently under development provide solid bases to study the benefit of all of these approaches independently, as well as combined.

In summary, RF techniques are usually used when HT is combined with chemotherapy. The current level of quality and success of the described clinical trials provides a solid basis since they showed significantly improved therapeutic results. In contradiction to radiotherapy with HT, thermal dose-effect studies have yet not been conducted so the optimum temperature (range) for application of hyperthermia is yet to be determined. In addition, not only temperature but also perfusion may well be highly important to assess HT effectiveness. In this respect, the advent of novel MR-guided devices provides many new perspectives, which will help to elucidate thermal or perfusion doseeffect relations. Integrated device and coil design, as well as new heating devices and temperature / perfusion measurement strategies should be developed to enable highly controlled application of HT. Given recent progress in these topics, combined with the advancements on temperature mediated drugs, we expect that the upcoming decade will bring breakthroughs in our knowledge, leading to optimized HT approaches for cancer patients.

Acknowledgements

Parts of this work was financially supported by the Dutch Cancer Society (KWF), the Dutch Research Council (NWO) and the Top Sector Life Science & Health (LSH), all in the Netherlands: grants 11368, 15195 and 17918. This project also has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under the Marie Sklodowska-Curie grant agreement No 845645.

References

- R. Issels, E. Kampmann, R. Kanaar, L.H. Lindner, Hallmarks of hyperthermia in driving the future of clinical hyperthermia as targeted therapy: translation into clinical application, Int. J. Hyperth. 32 (2016) 89–95, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736. 2015.1119317.
- [2] H.H. Kampinga, Cell biological effects of hyperthermia alone or combined with radiation or drugs: a short introduction to newcomers in the field, Int. J. Hyperth. 22 (2006) 191–196, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730500532028.
- [3] B. Frey, E.-M. Weiss, Y. Rubner, R. Wunderlich, O.J. Ott, R. Sauer, R. Fietkau, U.S. Gaipl, Old and new facts about hyperthermia-induced modulations of the immune system, Int. J. Hyperth. 28 (2012) 528–542, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736. 2012.677933.
- [4] J.J. Skitzki, E.A. Repasky, S.S. Evans, Hyperthermia as an immunotherapy strategy for cancer, Curr. Opin. Investig. Drugs 10 (2009) 550–558.
- [5] N.R. Datta, S.G. Ordonez, U.S. Gaipl, M.M. Paulides, H. Crezee, J. Gellermann, D. Marder, E. Puric, S. Bodis, Local hyperthermia combined with radiotherapy and –/or chemotherapy: recent advances and promises for the future, Cancer Treat. Rev. 41 (2015) 742–753, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2015.05.009.
- [6] R.D. Issels, L.H. Lindner, J. Verweij, R. Wessalowski, P. Reichardt, P. Wust, P. Ghadjar, P. Hohenberger, M. Angele, C. Salat, Z. Vujaskovic, S. Daugaard, O. Mella, U. Mansmann, H.R. Durr, T. Knosel, S. Abdel-Rahman, M. Schmidt, W. Hiddemann, K.W. Jauch, C. Belka, A. Gronchi, Effect of neoadjuvant chemotherapy plus regional hyperthermia on long-term outcomes among patients with localized high-risk soft tissue Sarcoma: The EORTC 62961-ESHO 95 randomized clinical trial, JAMA Oncol. 4 (2018) 483–492, https://doi.org/10.1001/jamaoncol.2017.4996.
- [7] R. Colombo, A. Salonia, Z. Leib, M. Pavone-Macaluso, D. Engelstein, Long-term outcomes of a randomized controlled trial comparing thermochemotherapy with mitomycin-C alone as adjuvant treatment for non-muscle-invasive bladder cancer (NMIBC), BJU Int. 107 (2011) 912–918, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2010. 09654.x.
- [8] R. Wessalowski, D.T. Schneider, O. Mils, V. Friemann, O. Kyrillopoulou, J. Schaper, C. Matuschek, K. Rothe, I. Leuschner, R. Willers, S. Schonberger, U. Gobel, G. Calaminus, Regional deep hyperthermia for salvage treatment of children and adolescents with refractory or recurrent non-testicular malignant germ-cell tumours:

an open-label, non-randomised, single-institution, phase 2 study, Lancet Oncol. 14 (2013) 843–852, https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70271-7.

- [9] R. Helderman, D.R. Loke, H.P. Kok, A.L. Oei, P.J. Tanis, N. Franken, J. Crezee, Variation in clinical application of hyperthermic intraperitoneal chemotherapy: a review, Cancers 11 (2019) 78, https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11010078.
- [10] G.C. van Rhoon, Is CEM43 still a relevant thermal dose parameter for hyperthermia treatment monitoring? Int. J. Hyperth. 32 (2016) 50–62, https://doi.org/10.3109/ 02656736.2015.1114153.
- [11] P. Vaupel, M.R. Horsman, Tumour perfusion and associated physiology: characterization and significance for hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 26 (2010) 209–210, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656731003636436.
- [12] M.B. Yatvin, J.N. Weinstein, W.H. Dennis, R. Blumenthal, Design of liposomes for enhanced local release of drugs by hyperthermia, Science 202 (1978) 1290–1293, https://doi.org/10.1126/science.364652.
- [13] T.M. Zagar, Z. Vujaskovic, S. Formenti, H. Rugo, F. Muggia, B. O'Connor, R. Myerson, P. Stauffer, I.C. Hsu, C. Diederich, W. Straube, M.K. Boss, A. Boico, O. Craciunescu, P. Maccarini, D. Needham, N. Borys, K.L. Blackwell, M.W. Dewhirst, Two phase I doseescalation/pharmacokinetics studies of low temperature liposomal doxorubicin (LTLD) and mild local hyperthermia in heavily pretreated patients with local regionally recurrent breast cancer, Int. J. Hyperth. 30 (2014) 285–294, https://doi. org/10.3109/02656736.2014.936049.
- [14] M. Hurwitz, P. Stauffer, Hyperthermia, radiation and chemotherapy: the role of heat in multidisciplinary cancer care, Semin. Oncol. 41 (2014) 714–729, https:// doi.org/10.1053/j.seminoncol.2014.09.014.
- [15] M.W. Dewhirst, Z. Vujaskovic, E. Jones, D. Thrall, Re-setting the biologic rationale for thermal therapy, Int. J. Hyperth. 21 (2005) 779–790.
- [16] M.R. Horsman, J. Overgaard, Hyperthermia: a potent enhancer of radiotherapy, Clin. Oncol. 19 (2007) 418–426, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clon.2007.03.015.
- [17] N. van den Tempel, M.R. Horsman, R. Kanaar, Improving efficacy of hyperthermia in oncology by exploiting biological mechanisms, Int. J. Hyperth. 32 (2016) 446–454, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2016.1157216.
- [18] C.W. Song, H. Park, R.J. Griffin, Improvement of tumor oxygenation by mild hyperthermia, Radiat. Res. 155 (2001) 515–528, https://doi.org/10.1667/0033-7587 (2001)155[0515:IOTOBM]2.0.CO;2.
- [19] D.E. Thrall, G.L. Rosner, C. Azuma, S.M. Larue, B.C. Case, T. Samulski, M.W. Dewhirst, Using units of CEM 43°C T90, local hyperthermia thermal dose can be delivered as prescribed, Int. J. Hyperth. 16 (2000) 415–428, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 026567300416712.
- [20] E.L. Jones, J.R. Oleson, L.R. Prosnitz, T.V. Samulski, Z. Vujaskovic, D. Yu, L.L. Sanders, M.W. Dewhirst, Randomized trial of hyperthermia and radiation for superficial tumors, J. Clin. Oncol. 23 (2005) 3079–3085, https://doi.org/10.1200/JCO.2005.05. 520.
- [21] P.D. Maguire, T.V. Samulski, L.R. Prosnitz, E.L. Jones, G.L. Rosner, B. Powers, L.W. Layfield, D.M. Brizel, S.P. Scully, J.M. Harrelson, M.W. Dewhirst, A phase II trial testing the thermal dose parameter CEM43° T90 as a predictor of response in soft tissue sarcomas treated with pre-operative thermoradiotherapy, Int. J. Hyperth. 17 (2001) 283–290, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730121338.
- [22] M. Franckena, D. Fatehi, M. de Bruijne, R.A. Canters, Y. van Norden, J.W. Mens, G.C. van Rhoon, J. van der Zee, Hyperthermia dose-effect relationship in 420 patients with cervical cancer treated with combined radiotherapy and hyperthermia, Eur. J. Cancer 45 (2009) 1969–1978, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2009.03.009.
- [23] M. Kroesen, H.T. Mulder, J.M.L. van Holthe, A.A. Aangeenbrug, J.W.M. Mens, H.C. van Doorn, M.M. Paulides, E. Oomen-de Hoop, R.M. Vernhout, L.C. Lutgens, G.C. van Rhoon, M. Franckena, The Effect of the Time Interval Between Radiation and Hyperthermia on Clinical Outcome in 400 Locally Advanced Cervical Carcinoma Patients, Front. Oncol. 9 (2019) https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2019.00134 Article 134.
- [24] P.B. Elming, B.S. Sorensen, A.L. Oei, N.A.P. Franken, J. Crezee, J. Overgaard, M.R. Horsman, Hyperthermia: The Optimal Treatment to Overcome Radiation Resistant Hypoxia, Cancers (Basel) 11 (2019) https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers11010060.
- [25] C.W. Song, A. Lokshina, J.G. Rhee, M. Patten, S.H. Levitt, Implication of blood flow in hyperthermic treatment of tumors, IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 31 (1984) 9–16, https://doi.org/10.1109/TBME.1984.325364.
- [26] S. Gabriel, R.W. Lau, C. Gabriel, The dielectric properties of biological tissues: II. Measurements in the frequency range 10 Hz to 20 GHz, Phys. Med. Biol. 41 (1996) 2251–2269, https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/41/11/002.
- [27] W.T. Joines, Y. Zhang, C. Li, R.L. Jirtle, The measured electrical properties of normal and malignant human tissues from 50 to 900 MHz, Phys. Med. Biol. 21 (1994) 547–550.
- [28] C. Rossmanna, D. Haemmerich, Review of temperature dependence of thermal properties, dielectric properties, and perfusion of biological tissues at hyperthermic and ablation temperatures, Crit. Rev. Biomed. Eng. 42 (2014) 467–492, https://doi.org/10.1615/CritRevBiomedEng.2015012486.
- [29] K.S. Cole, R.H. Cole, Dispersion and absorption in dielectrics I. Alternating current characteristics, J. Chem. Phys. 9 (1941) 341–351, https://doi.org/10.1063/1. 1750906.
- [30] S. Gabriel, R.W. Lau, C. Gabriel, The dielectric properties of biological tissues: III. Parametric models for the dielectric spectrum of tissues, Phys. Med. Biol. 41 (1996) 2271–2293, https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/41/11/003.
- [31] P.A. Hasgall, F. Di Gennaro, C. Baumgartner, E. Neufeld, B. Lloyd, M.C. Gosselin, D. Payne, A. Klingenböck, N. Kuster, IT'IS Database for thermal and electromagnetic parameters of biological tissues, Version 4.0, 2018https://doi.org/10.13099/ VIP21000-04-0.
- [32] P. Wust, H. Stahl, J. Loffel, M. Seebass, H. Riess, R. Felix, Clinical, physiological and anatomical determinants for radiofrequency hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 11 (1995) 151–167, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656739509022453.

- [33] H.H. Pennes, Analysis of tissue and arterial blood temperatures in the resting human forearm, J. Appl. Physiol. (1) (1948) 93–122, https://doi.org/10.1152/ jappl.1998.85.1.5.
- [34] H.P. Kok, C.A. van den Berg, A. Bel, J. Crezee, Fast thermal simulations and temperature optimization for hyperthermia treatment planning, including realistic 3D vessel networks, Med. Phys. 40 (2013) 103303, https://doi.org/10.1118/1. 4821544.
- [35] V.M. Flyckt, B.W. Raaymakers, H. Kroeze, J.J. Lagendijk, Calculation of SAR and temperature rise in a high-resolution vascularized model of the human eye and orbit when exposed to a dipole antenna at 900, 1500 and 1800 MHz, Phys. Med. Biol. 52 (2007) 2691–2701, https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/52/10/004.
- [36] K. Sumser, E. Neufeld, R.F. Verhaart, V. Fortunati, G.M. Verduijn, T. Drizdal, T. van Walsum, J.F. Veenland, M.M. Paulides, Feasibility and relevance of discrete vasculature modeling in routine hyperthermia treatment planning, Int. J. Hyperth. 36 (2019) 801–811, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2019.1641633.
- [37] M.W. Dewhirst, M. Lora-Michiels, M. Hanson, P.J. Hoopes, Basic principles of thermal dosimetry and thermal thresholds for tissue damage from hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperthermia 19 (3) (2003) 267–294, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 0265673031000119006.
- [38] S.A. Sapareto, W.C. Dewey, Thermal dose determination in cancer therapy, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 10 (1984) 787–800, https://doi.org/10.1016/0360-3016 (84)90379-1.
- [39] M. Sherar, F.-F. Liu, M. Pintilie, W. Levin, J. Hunt, R. Hill, J. Hand, C. Vernon, G. van Rhoon, J. van der Zee, D.G. Gonzalez, J.V. Dijk, J. Whaley, D. Machin, Relationship between thermal dose and outcome in thermoradiotherapy treatments for superficial recurrences of breast cancer: Data from a phase III trial, Int. J. Radiat, Oncol. Biol. Phys. 39 (1997) 371–380, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-3016(97)00333-7.
- [40] H.K. Lee, C.A. Perez, W.L. Straube, G. Ramachandran, R.J. Myerson, B. Emami, E.P. Molmenti, A. Buckner, M.A. Lockett, Superficial hyperthermia and irradiation for recurrent breast carcinoma of the chest wall: prognostic factors in 196 tumors, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 40 (1998) 365–375, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-3016(97)00740-2.
- [41] T. Ohguri, Y. Harima, H. Imada, H. Sakurai, T. Ohno, Y. Hiraki, K. Tuji, M. Tanaka, H. Terashima, Relationships between thermal dose parameters and the efficacy of definitive chemoradiotherapy plus regional hyperthermia in the treatment of locally advanced cervical cancer: data from a multicentre randomised clinical trial, Int. J. Hyperth. 34 (2018) 461–468, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2017.1352105.
- [42] PlaceholderReference, The Importance of Thermal Dose, Adv. Drug Del. Rev. (2020) (this issue).
- [43] G. Lassche, J. Crezee, C.M.L. Van Herpen, Whole-body hyperthermia in combination with systemic therapy in advanced solid malignancies, Crit. Rev. Oncol./Hematol. 139 (2019) 67–74, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2019.04.023.
- [44] D. Jia, J. Liu, Current devices for high-performance whole-body hyperthermia therapy, Expert. Rev. Med. Devices 7 (2010) 407–423, https://doi.org/10.1586/ erd.10.13.
- [45] P.R. Stauffer, D.B. Rodrigues, R. Sinahon, L. Sbarro, V. Beckhoff, M.D. Hurwitz, Using a conformal waterbolus to adjust heating patterns of microwave waveguide applicators, in: T.P. Ryan (Ed.), SPIE Photonics West 2017, SPIE Press San Francisco 2017, p. 100660N, https://doi.org/10.1117/12.2252208.
- [46] M.L van der Gaag, M. de Bruijne, T. Samaras, J. van der Zee, G.C. van Rhoon, Development of a guideline for the water bolus temperature in superficial hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 22 (2006) 637–656, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730601074409.
- [47] H. Dobšíček Trefná, J. Crezee, M. Schmidt, D. Marder, U. Lamprecht, M. Ehmann, J. Nadobny, J. Hartmann, N. Lomax, S. Abdel-Rahman, S. Curto, A. Bakker, M.D. Hurwitz, CJ. Diederich, P.R. Stauffer, G.C. Van Rhoon, Quality assurance guidelines for superficial hyperthermia clinical trials : II. Technical requirements for heating devices, Strahlenther. Onkol. 193 (2017) 351–366, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00066-017-1106-0.
- [48] P.R. Stauffer, Evolving technology for thermal therapy of cancer, Int. J. Hyperth. 21 (2005) 731–744, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730500331868.
- [49] E.R. Lee, Electromagnetic superficial heating technology, in: M.H. Seegenschmiedt, P. Fessenden, C.C. Vernon (Eds.), Thermoradiotherapy and Thermochemotherapy: Biology, Physiology, Physics, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg 1995, pp. 193–217, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-57858-8_10.
- [50] G.C. Van Rhoon, External electromagnetic methods and devices, in: E.G. Moros Physics of Thermal Therapy: Fundamentals and Clinical Applications, CRC Press, Boca Raton 2013, pp. 139–158.
- [51] H.P. Kok, J. Crezee, A comparison of the heating characteristics of capacitive and radiative superficial hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 33 (2017) 378–386, https://doi. org/10.1080/02656736.2016.1268726.
- [52] A. Bakker, M.W. Kolff, R. Holman, C.M. van Leeuwen, L. Korshuize-van Straten, R. de Kroon-Oldenhof, C.R.N. Rasch, G. van Tienhoven, H. Crezee, Thermal skin damage during reirradiation and hyperthermia is time-temperature dependent, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 98 (2017) 392–399, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrobp. 2017.02.009.
- [53] M. Linthorst, G.C. van Rhoon, A.N. van Geel, M. Baaijens, W. Ghidey, M.P. Broekmeyer-Reurink, J. van der Zee, The tolerance of reirradiation and hyperthermia in breast cancer patients with reconstructions, Int. J. Hyperth. 28 (2012) 267–277, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2012.663951.
- [54] M.M. Paulides, P.R. Stauffer, E. Neufeld, P.F. Maccarini, A. Kyriakou, R.A. Canters, C.J. Diederich, J.F. Bakker, G.C. Van Rhoon, Simulation techniques in hyperthermia treatment planning, Int. J. Hyperth. 29 (2013) 346–357, https://doi.org/10.3109/ 02656736.2013.790092.
- [55] H.P. Kok, P. Wust, P.R. Stauffer, F. Bardati, G.C. Van Rhoon, J. Crezee, Current state of the art of regional hyperthermia treatment planning: a review, Radiat. Oncol. 10 (2015) 1–14, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13014-015-0503-8.

- [56] M.M. Paulides, J.F. Bakker, N. Chavannes, G.C. Van Rhoon, A patch antenna design for application in a phased-array head and neck hyperthermia applicator, IEEE Trans. Biomed. Eng. 54 (2007) 2057–2063, https://doi.org/10.1109/TBME.2007. 895111.
- [57] M.M. Paulides, R.M. Mestrom, G. Salim, B.B. Adela, W.C. Numan, T. Drizdal, D.T. Yeo, A.B. Smolders, A printed Yagi-Uda antenna for application in magnetic resonance thermometry guided microwave hyperthermia applicators, Phys. Med. Biol. 62 (2017) 1831–1847, https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6560/aa56b3.
- [58] M.M. Paulides, J.F. Bakker, E. Neufeld, J. van der Zee, P.P. Jansen, P.C. Levendag, G.C. van Rhoon, The HYPERcollar: a novel applicator for hyperthermia in the head and neck, Int. J. Hyperth. 23 (2007) 567–576, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730701670478.
- [59] L. Winter, C. Ozerdem, W. Hoffmann, D. Santoro, A. Muller, H. Waiczies, R. Seemann, A. Graessl, P. Wust, T. Niendorf, Design and evaluation of a hybrid radio-frequency applicator for magnetic resonance imaging and RF induced hyperthermia: electromagnetic field simulations up to 14.0 Tesla and proof-of-concept at 7.0 Tesla, PLoS One 8 (2013) e61661, https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone. 0061661.
- [60] P. Takook, M. Persson, J. Gellermann, H.D. Trefna, Compact self-grounded Bow-Tie antenna design for an UWB phased-array hyperthermia applicator, Int. J. Hyperth. 33 (2017) 387–400, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2016.1271911.
- [61] C.W. Song, J.G. Rhee, C.K. Lee, S.H. Levitt, Capacitive heating of phantom and human tumors with an 8 MHz radiofrequency applicator (Thermotron RF-8), Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 12 (1986) 365–372, https://doi.org/10.1016/0360-3016(86) 90352-4.
- [62] T. Ohguri, H. Imada, K. Yahara, S. Kakeda, A. Tomimatsu, F. Kato, S. Nomoto, H. Terashima, Y. Korogi, Effect of 8-MHz radiofrequency-capacitive regional hyper-thermia with strong superficial cooling for unresectable or recurrent colorectal cancer, Int. J. Hyperth. 20 (2004) 465–475, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730310001657729.
- [63] H.P. Kok, F. Navarro, L. Strigari, M. Cavagnaro, J. Crezee, Locoregional hyperthermia of deep-seated tumours applied with capacitive and radiative systems: a simulation study, Int. J. Hyperth. 34 (2018) 714–730, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736. 2018.1448119.
- [64] P.R. Stauffer, C.J. Diederich, M.H. Seegenschmiedt, Interstitial heating technologies, in: M.H. Seegenschmiedt, P. Fessenden, C.C. Vernon (Eds.), Thermoradiotherapy and Thermochemotherapy: Biology, Physiology, Physics, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg 1995, pp. 279–320, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-57858-8_13.
- [65] A.G.C. Visser, J.W. Hand, J.J. Lagendijk, C. Marchal, D. Roos, M.H. Seegenschmiedt, J.D. Van Dijk, Interstitial and Intracavitary Hyperthermia. A Task Group Report of the European Society for Hyperthermic Oncology in cooperation with a COMAC-BME Concerted Action within the 4th Medical and Health Research Programme of the European Commission. University of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, 1993.
- [66] J.W. Hand, B.S. Trembly, M.V. Prior, Physics of interstitial hyperthermia: Radiofrequency and hot water tube techniques, in: M. Urano, E. Douple Hyperthermia and Oncology, VSP, Zeist, 1991, pp. 99–134.
- [67] H. Dobšíček Trefná, M. Schmidt, G.C. van Rhoon, H.P. Kok, S.S. Gordeyev, U. Lamprecht, D. Marder, J. Nadobny, P. Ghadjar, S. Abdel-Rahman, A.M. Kukiełka, V. Strnad, M.D. Hurwitz, Z. Vujaskovic, CJ. Diederich, P.R. Stauffer, J. Crezee, Quality assurance guidelines for interstital hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 36 (2019) 277–294, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2018.1564155.
- [68] G. Bruggmoser, S. Bauchowitz, R. Canters, H. Crezee, M. Ehmann, J. Gellermann, U. Lamprecht, N. Lomax, M.B. Messmer, O. Ott, S. Abdel-Rahman, M. Schmidt, R. Sauer, A. Thomsen, R. Wessalowski, G. van Rhoon, Guideline for the clinical application, documentation and analysis of clinical studies for regional deep hyperthermia, Strahlenther. Onkol. 188 (2012) 198–211, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00066-012-0176-2.
- [69] H. Dobšíček Trefná, H. Crezee, M. Schmidt, D. Marder, U. Lamprecht, M. Ehmann, J. Hartmann, J. Nadobny, J. Gellermann, N. van Holthe, P. Ghadjar, N. Lomax, S. Abdel-Rahman, C. Bert, A. Bakker, M.D. Hurwitz, C.J. Diederich, P.R. Stauffer, G.C. van Rhoon, Quality assurance guidelines for superficial hyperthermia clinical trials: I. Clinical requirements, Int. J. Hyperthermia 33 (2017) 471–482, https://doi.org/10. 1080/02656736.2016.1277791.
- [70] P. Wust, M. Seebass, J. Nadobny, R. Felix, Electromagnetic deep heating technology, in: M.H. Seegenschmiedt, P. Fessenden, C.C. Vernon (Eds.), Thermoradiotherapy and Thermochemotherapy: Biology, Physiology, Physics, Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg 1995, pp. 219–251, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-57858-8_11.
- [71] M.M. Paulides, G.M. Verduijn, N. Van Holthe, Status quo and directions in deep head and neck hyperthermia, Radiat. Oncol. 11 (2016) 21, https://doi.org/10. 1186/s13014-016-0588-8.
- [72] T. Drizdal, M.M. Paulides, N. van Holthe, G.C. van Rhoon, Hyperthermia treatment planning guided applicator selection for sub-superficial head and neck tumors heating, Int. J. Hyperth. 34 (2018) 704–713, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736. 2017.1383517.
- [73] M. de Bruijne, D.H. Wielheesen, J. van der Zee, N. Chavannes, G.C. van Rhoon, Benefits of superficial hyperthermia treatment planning: five case studies, Int. J. Hyperth. 23 (2007) 417–429, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730701502077.
- [74] PlaceholderReference, Thermosensitive Liposomes, Adv. Drug Del. Rev. (2020)(this issue).
- [75] G.T. ter Haar, C. Coussios, High intensity focused ultrasound: physical principles and devices, Int. J. Hyperth. 23 (2007) 89–104, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02656730601186138.
- [76] R.M. Staruch, K. Hynynen, R. Chopra, Hyperthermia-mediated doxorubicin release from thermosensitive liposomes using MR-HIFU: Therapeutic effect in rabbit Vx2 tumours, Int. J. Hyperth. 31 (2015) 118–133, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736. 2014.992483.

- [77] R. Wardlow, C. Bing, J. VanOsdol, D. Maples, M. Ladouceur-Wodzak, M. Harbeson, J. Nofiele, R. Staruch, A. Ramachandran, J. Malayer, R. Chopra, A. Ranjan, Targeted antibiotic delivery using low temperature-sensitive liposomes and magnetic resonace-guided high-intensity focused ultrasound hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 32 (2016) 254–264, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2015.1134818.
- [78] N. Frazier, A. Payne, J. de Bever, C. Dillon, A. Panda, N. Subrahmanyam, H. Ghandehari, High intensity focused ultrasound hyperthermia for enhanced macromolecular delivery, J. Control. Release 241 (2016) 186–193, https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jconrel.2016.09.030.
- [79] D.B. Rodrigues, P.R. Stauffer, J. Eisenbrey, V. Beckhoff, M.D. Hurwitz, Oncologic applications of magnetic resonance guided focused ultrasound, in: J.Y.C. Wong, T.E. Schultheiss, E.H. Radany Advances in Radiation Oncology, Springer International Publishing, Cham, 2017, pp. 69–108. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-53235-6_4.
- [80] L. Zhu, M.B. Altman, A. Laszlo, W. Straube, I. Zoberi, D.E. Hallahan, H. Chen, Ultrasound Hyperthermia Technology for Radiosensitization, Ultrasound Med. Biol. 45 (2019) 1025–1043, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2018.12.007.
- [81] PlaceholderReference, Recent Technological Advancements in Focused Ultrasound-Mediated Hyperthermia, Adv. Drug Del. Rev (2020)(this issue).
- [82] G. Schooneveldt, A. Bakker, E. Balidemaj, R. Chopra, J. Crezee, E.D. Geijsen, J. Hartmann, M.C. Hulshof, H.P. Kok, M.M. Paulides, A. Sousa-Escandon, P.R. Stauffer, P.F. Maccarini, Thermal dosimetry for bladder hyperthermia treatment. An overview, Int. J. Hyperthermia 32 (2016) 417–433, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2016.1156170.
- [83] A. Bakker, R. Holman, D.B. Rodrigues, H. Dobšíček Trefná, P.R. Stauffer, G. van Tienhoven, C.R.N. Rasch, H. Crezee, Analysis of clinical data to determine the minimum number of sensors required for adequate skin temperature monitoring of superficial hyperthermia treatments, Int. J. Hyperth. 34 (7) (2018) 910–917, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2018.1466000.
- [84] R.D. Issels, Hyperthermia adds to chemotherapy, Eur. J. Cancer 44 (2008) 2546–2554, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2008.07.038.
- [85] R.F. Verhaart, G.M. Verduijn, V. Fortunati, Z. Rijnen, T. van Walsum, J.F. Veenland, M.M. Paulides, Accurate 3D temperature dosimetry during hyperthermia therapy by combining invasive measurements and patient-specific simulations, Int. J. Hyperth. 31 (2015) 686–692, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2015.1052855.
- [86] O.I. Craciunescu, K.L. Blackwell, E.L. Jones, J.R. Macfall, D. Yu, Z. Vujaskovic, T.Z. Wong, V. Liotcheva, E.L. Rosen, L.R. Prosnitz, T.V. Samulski, M.W. Dewhirst, DCE-MRI parameters have potential to predict response of locally advanced breast cancer patients to neoadjuvant chemotherapy and hyperthermia: a pilot study, Int. J. Hyperth. 25 (2009) 405–415, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730903022700.
- [87] K.R. Diller, Heat Transfer in Health and Healing, J. Heat Transf. 137 (2015) 1030011–10300112, https://doi.org/10.1115/1.4030424.
- [88] J. Crezee, P.M. Van Haaren, H. Westendorp, M. De Greef, H.P. Kok, J. Wiersma, G. Van Stam, J. Sijbrands, P. Zum Vorde Sive Vording, J.D. Van Dijk, M.C. Hulshof, A. Bel, Improving locoregional hyperthermia delivery using the 3-D controlled AMC-8 phased array hyperthermia system: a preclinical study, Int. J. Hyperthermia 25 (2009) 581–592, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656730903213374.
- [89] G. Lamaitre, J.D. Van Dijk, E.A. Gelvich, J. Wiersma, C.J. Schneider, SAR characteristics of three types of Contact Flexible Microstrip Applicators for superficial hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 12 (1996) 255–269, https://doi.org/10.3109/ 02656739609022513.
- [90] J.E. Johnson, D.G. Neuman, P.F. Maccarini, T. Juang, P.R. Stauffer, P. Turner, Evaluation of a dual-arm Archimedean spiral array for microwave hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 22 (2006) 475–490, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730600905595.
- [91] C.F. Gottlieb, M.J. Hagmann, T.M. Babij, A. Markoe, J.G. Schwade, P.V. Houdek, Heating Patterns of Interstitial and External Microwave Hyperthermia Applicators Determined Using a Miniature Electric Field Probe, Thermographic Camera, and Point Temperature Measurements, 13th Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society, IEEE, Orlando, FL, USA, 1991, pp. 968–969. https://doi.org/10.1109/IEMBS.1991.684289.
- [92] D. Fatehi, G.C. van Rhoon, SAR characteristics of the Sigma-60-Ellipse applicator, Int. J. Hyperth. 24 (2008) 347–356, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730701832326.
- [93] T. Hehr, U. Lamprecht, S. Glocker, J. Classen, F. Paulsen, W. Budach, M. Bamberg, Thermoradiotherapy for locally recurrent breast cancer with skin involvement, Int. J. Hyperth. 17 (2001) 291–301, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730119599.
- [94] P. Wust, H. Fahling, W. Wlodarczyk, M. Seebass, J. Gellermann, P. Deuflhard, J. Nadobny, Antenna arrays in the SIGMA-eye applicator: interactions and transforming networks, Med. Phys. 28 (2001) 1793–1805, https://doi.org/10. 1118/1.1388220.
- [95] J. Gellermann, W. Wlodarczyk, H. Ganter, J. Nadobny, H. Fahling, M. Seebass, R. Felix, P. Wust, A practical approach to thermography in a hyperthermia/magnetic resonance hybrid system: validation in a heterogeneous phantom, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 61 (2005) 267–277.
- [96] R. Colombo, A. Lev, L.F. Da Pozzo, M. Freschi, G. Gallus, P. Rigatti, A new approach using local combined microwave hyperthermia and chemotherapy in superficial transitional bladder carcinoma treatment, J. Urol. 153 (1995) 959–963, https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5347(01)67613-4.
- [97] G. Andocs, O. Szasz, A. Szasz, Oncothermia treatment of cancer: from the laboratory to clinic, Electromagn. Biol. Med. 28 (2009) 148–165, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 15368370902724633.
- [98] W.H. Yang, J. Xie, Z.Y. Lai, M.D. Yang, G.H. Zhang, Y. Li, J.B. Mu, J. Xu, Radiofrequency deep hyperthermia combined with chemotherapy in the treatment of advanced non-small cell lung cancer, Chin. Med. J. 132 (2019) 922–927, https://doi.org/10. 1097/CM9.00000000000156.
- [99] C. Qi, D. Li, B. Guo, Y. Shi, D. Yang, Clinical observation on thermophysics in radiofrequency heating, Chin. J. Radiat. Oncol. 11 (2002) 208–211RN: 34068412.

- [100] J. van der Zee, D. Gonzalez Gonzalez, G.C. van Rhoon, J.D. van Dijk, W.L. van Putten, A.A. Hart, Comparison of radiotherapy alone with radiotherapy plus hyperthermia in locally advanced pelvic tumours: a prospective, randomised, multicentre trial. Dutch Deep Hyperthermia Group, Lancet 355 (2000) 1119–1125.
- [101] C.C. Vernon, J.W. Hand, S.B. Field, D. Machin, J.B. Whaley, J. van der Zee, W.L.J. van Putten, G.C. van Rhoon, J.D.P. van Dijk, D. Gonzalez-Gonzalez, F.F. Liu, P. Goodman, M. Sherar, Radiotherapy with or without hyperthermia in the treatment of superficial localized breast cancer: results from five randomized controlled trials, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 35 (1996) 731–744.
- [102] N.R. Datta, S. Rogers, S.G. Ordonez, E. Puric, S. Bodis, Hyperthermia and radiotherapy in the management of head and neck cancers: a systematic review and metaanalysis, Int. J. Hyperth. 32 (2016) 31–40, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2015. 1099746.
- [103] J.C. Peeken, P. Vaupel, S.E. Combs, Integrating hyperthermia into modern radiation oncology: what evidence is necessary? Front. Oncol. 7 (2017) 1–17, https://doi. org/10.3389/fonc.2017.00132.
- [104] R. Colombo, L.F. Da Pozzo, A. Salonia, P. Rigatti, Z. Leib, J. Baniel, E. Caldarera, M. Pavone-Macaluso, Multicentric study comparing intravesical chemotherapy alone and with local microwave hyperthermia for prophylaxis of recurrence of superficial transitional cell carcinoma, J. Clin. Oncol. 21 (2003) 4270–4276, https://doi.org/10.1200/[C0.2003.01.089.
- [105] E.D. Geijsen, T.M. de Reijke, C.C. Koning, P.J. Zum Vorde Sive Vording, J.J. de la Rosette, C.R. Rasch, R.M. van Os, J. Crezee, Combining mitomycin C and regional 70 MHz hyperthermia in patients with nonmuscle invasive bladder cancer: a pilot study, J. Urol. 194 (2015) 1202–1208, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.juro.2015. 05.102.
- [106] M. Wittlinger, C.M. Rodel, C. Weiss, S.F. Krause, R. Kuhn, R. Fietkau, R. Sauer, O.J. Ott, Quadrimodal treatment of high-risk T1 and T2 bladder cancer: transurethral tumor resection followed by concurrent radiochemotherapy and regional deep hyperthermia, Radiother. Oncol. 93 (2009) 358–363, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radonc. 2009.09.018.
- [107] R.D. Issels, L.H. Lindner, J. Verweij, P. Wust, P. Reichardt, B.C. Schem, S. Abdel-Rahman, S. Daugaard, C. Salat, C.M. Wendtner, Z. Vujaskovic, R. Wessalowski, K.W. Jauch, H.R. Durr, F. Ploner, A. Baur-Melnyk, U. Mansmann, W. Hiddemann, J.Y. Blay, P. Hohenberger, Neo-adjuvant chemotherapy alone or with regional hyperthermia for localised high-risk soft-tissue sarcoma: a randomised phase 3 multicentre study, Lancet Oncol. 11 (2010) 561–570, https://doi.org/10.1016/ S1470-2045(10)70071-1.
- [108] T. Otsuka, M. Yonezawa, F. Kamiyama, Y. Matsushita, N. Matsui, Results of surgery and radio-hyperthermo-chemotherapy for patients with soft-tissue sarcoma, Int. J. Clin. Oncol. 6 (2001) 253–258, https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00012114.
- [109] Y. Hua, S. Ma, Z. Fu, Q. Hu, L. Wang, Y. Piao, Intracavity hyperthermia in nasopharyngeal cancer: a phase III clinical study, Int. J. Hyperth. 27 (2011) 180–186, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2010.503982.
- [110] M. Kang, W.Q. Liu, Y.T. Qin, Z.X. Wei, R.S. Wang, Long-term efficacy of microwave hyperthermia combined with chemoradiotherapy in treatment of nasopharyngeal carcinoma with cervical lymph node metastases, Asian Pac. J. Cancer Prev. 14 (2013) 7395–7400, https://doi.org/10.7314/APJCP.2013.14.12.7395.
- [111] C. Zhao, J. Chen, B. Yu, X. Chen, Improvement in quality of life in patients with nasopharyngeal carcinoma treated with non-invasive extracorporeal radiofrequency in combination with chemoradiotherapy, Int. J. Radiat. Biol. 90 (2014) 853–858, https://doi.org/10.3109/09553002.2014.916579.
- [112] K. Sugimachi, K. Kitamura, K. Baba, M. Ikebe, M. Morita, H. Matsuda, H. Kuwano, Hyperthermia combined with chemotherapy and irradiation for patients with carcinoma of the oesophagus—a prospective randomized trial, Int. J. Hyperth. 8 (1992) 289–295, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656739209021783.
- [113] K. Sugimachi, H. Kuwano, H. Ide, T. Toge, M. Saku, Y. Oshiumi, Chemotherapy combined with or without hyperthermia for patients with oesophageal carcinoma: a prospective randomized trial, Int. J. Hyperth. 10 (1994) 485–493, https://doi.org/ 10.3109/02656739409009352.
- [114] J. Wang, D. Li, N. Chen, Intracavitary microwave hyperthermia combined with external irradiation in the treatment of esophageal cancer, Chin. J. Oncol. 18 (1996) 51–54.
- [115] H. Kuwano, K. Sumiyoshi, M. Watanabe, N. Sadanaga, T. Nozoe, M. Yasuda, K. Sugimachi, Preoperative hyperthermia combined with chemotherapy and irradiation for the treatment of patients with esophageal carcinoma, Tumori 81 (1995) 18–22, https://doi.org/10.1177/030089169508100105.
- [116] M. Nakajima, H. Kato, M. Sakai, A. Sano, T. Miyazaki, M. Sohda, T. Inose, N. Tanaka, S. Suzuki, N. Masuda, M. Fukuchi, H. Kuwano, Planned esophagectomy after neoadjuvant hyperthermio-chemoradiotherapy using weekly low-dose docetaxel and hyperthermia for advanced Esophageal Carcinomas, Hepatogastroenterology. 62 (2015) 887–891.
- [117] L. Sheng, Y. Ji, Q. Wu, X. Du, Regional hyperthermia combined with radiotherapy for esophageal squamous cell carcinoma with supraclavicular lymph node metastasis, Oncotarget 8 (2017) 5339–5348, https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.14148.
- [118] C. Schroeder, C. Gani, U. Lamprecht, C.H. von Weyhern, M. Weinmann, M. Bamberg, B. Berger, Pathological complete response and sphincter-sparing surgery after neoadjuvant radiochemotherapy with regional hyperthermia for locally advanced rectal cancer compared with radiochemotherapy alone, Int. J. Hyperth. 28 (2012) 707–714, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2012.722263.
- [119] S. Maluta, M. Romano, S. Dall'oglio, M. Genna, C. Oliani, F. Pioli, M. Gabbani, N. Marciai, M. Palazzi, Regional hyperthermia added to intensified preoperative chemo-radiation in locally advanced adenocarcinoma of middle and lower rectum, Int. J. Hyperth. 26 (2010) 108–117, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656730903333958.
- [120] Y.A. Barsukov, S.S. Gordeyev, S.I. Tkachev, M.Y. Fedyanin, A.G. Perevoshikov, Phase II study of concomitant chemoradiotherapy with local hyperthermia and

metronidazole for locally advanced fixed rectal cancer, Color. Dis. 15 (2013) 1107–1114, https://doi.org/10.1111/codi.12281.

- [121] A.O. Rasulov, S.S. Gordeyev, Y.A. Barsukov, S.I. Tkachev, A.G. Malikhov, S.S. Balyasnikova, M.Y. Fedyanin, Short-course preoperative radiotherapy combined with chemotherapy, delayed surgery and local hyperthermia for rectal cancer: a phase II study, Int. J. Hyperth. 33 (2017) 465–470, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02656736.2016.1272138.
- [122] V. Kouloulias, G. Plataniotis, J. Kouvaris, C. Dardoufas, C. Gennatas, N. Uzunoglu, C. Papavasiliou, L. Vlahos, Chemoradiotherapy combined with intracavitary hyperthermia for anal cancer: feasibility and long-term results from a phase II randomized trial, Am. J. Clin. Oncol. 28 (2005) 91–99, https://doi.org/10.1097/01.coc. 0000139939.60056.42.
- [123] O.J. Ott, M. Schmidt, S. Semrau, V. Strnad, K.E. Matzel, I. Schneider, D. Raptis, W. Uter, R. Grutzmann, R. Fietkau, Chemoradiotherapy with and without deep regional hyperthermia for squamous cell carcinoma of the anus, Strahlenther. Onkol. 195 (2018) 607–614, https://doi.org/10.1007/s00066-018-1396-x.
- [124] H. Shen, X.D. Li, C.P. Wu, Y.M. Yin, R.S. Wang, Y.Q. Shu, The regimen of gemcitabine and cisplatin combined with radio frequency hyperthermia for advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer: a phase II study, Int. J. Hyperth. 27 (2011) 27–32, https:// doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2010.500645.
- [125] Y.Y. Wang, S.X. Lin, G.Q. Yang, H.C. Liu, D.N. Sun, Y.S. Wang, Clinical efficacy of CyberKnife combined with chemotherapy and hyperthermia for advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer, Mol. Clin. Oncol. 1 (2013) 527–530, https://doi.org/10. 3892/mco.2013.95.
- [126] N.R. Datta, S. Rogers, D. Klingbiel, S. Gomez, E. Puric, S. Bodis, Hyperthermia and radiotherapy with or without chemotherapy in locally advanced cervical cancer: a systematic review with conventional and network meta-analyses, Int. J. Hyperth. 32 (2016) 809–821, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2016.1195924.
- [127] A. van der Horst, E. Versteijne, M.G.H. Besselink, J.G. Daams, E.B. Bulle, M.F. Bijlsma, J.W. Wilmink, O.M. van Delden, J.E. van Hooft, N.A.P. Franken, H.W.M. van Laarhoven, J. Crezee, G. van Tienhoven, The clinical benefit of hyperthermia in pancreatic cancer: a systematic review, Int. J. Hyperth. 34 (2017) 969–979, https://doi. org/10.1080/02656736.2017.1401126.
- [128] J. Gellermann, W. Wlodarczyk, B. Hildebrandt, H. Ganter, A. Nicolau, B. Rau, W. Tilly, H. Fähling, J. Nadobny, R. Felix, P. Wust, Noninvasive magnetic resonance thermography of recurrent rectal Carcinoma in a 1.5 Tesla Hybrid System, Cancer Res. 65 (2005) 5872–5880, https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-3952.
- [129] Y. Ishihara, A. Calderon, H. Watanabe, K. Okamoto, Y. Suzuki, K. Kuroda, Y. Suzuki, A precise and fast temperature mapping using water proton chemical shift, Magn. Reson. Med. 34 (1995) 814–823, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.1910340606.
- [130] V. Rieke, K. Butts Pauly, MR thermometry, J. Magn. Reson. Imaging 27 (2008) 376–390, https://doi.org/10.1002/jmri.21265.
- [131] R.A.M. Canters, M.M. Paulides, M.F. Franckena, J. van der Zee, G.C. van Rhoon, Implementation of treatment planning in the routine clinical procedure of regional hyperthermia treatment of cervical cancer: an overview and the Rotterdam experience, Int. J. Hyperth. 28 (2012) 570–581, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736. 2012.675630.
- [132] V. Fortunati, R.F. Verhaart, F. van der Lijn, W.J. Niessen, J.F. Veenland, M.M. Paulides, T. van Walsum, Tissue segmentation of head and neck CT images for treatment planning: A multiatlas approach combined with intensity modeling: Tissue segmentation for head and neck treatment planning, Med. Phys. 40 (2013), 071905. https://doi.org/10.1118/1.4810971.
- [133] Z. Rijnen, J.F. Bakker, R.A.M. Canters, P. Togni, G.M. Verduijn, P.C. Levendag, G.C. Van Rhoon, M.M. Paulides, Clinical integration of software tool VEDO for adaptive and quantitative application of phased array hyperthermia in the head and neck, Int. J. Hyperth. 29 (2013) 181–193, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2013. 783934.
- [134] H.P. Kok, A. Kotte, J. Crezee, Planning, optimisation and evaluation of hyperthermia treatments, Int. J. Hyperth. 33 (2017) 593–607, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736. 2017.1295323.
- [135] R.A.M. Canters, M. Franckena, J. van der Zee, G.C. van Rhoon, Optimizing deep hyperthermia treatments: are locations of patient pain complaints correlated with modelled SAR peak locations? Phys. Med. Biol. 56 (2011) 439–451, https://doi. org/10.1088/0031-9155/56/2/010.
- [136] J. Yuan, C.-S. Mei, L.P. Panych, N.J. McDannold, B. Madore, Towards fast and accurate temperature mapping with proton resonance frequency-based MR thermometry, Quant. Imaging. Med. Surg. 2 (2012) 21, https://doi.org/10.3978/j.issn.2223-4292.2012.01.06.
- [137] E. Balidemaj, H.P. Kok, G. Schooneveldt, A.L.H.M.W. van Lier, R.F. Remis, L.J.A. Stalpers, H. Westerveld, A.J. Nederveen, C.A.T. van den Berg, J. Crezee, Hyperthermia treatment planning for cervical cancer patients based on electrical conductivity tissue properties acquired in vivo with EPT at 3 T MRI, Int. J. Hyperth. 32 (2016) 558–568, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2015.1129440.
- [138] D.E. Thrall, P. Maccarini, P. Stauffer, J. Macfall, M. Hauck, S. Snyder, B. Case, K. Linder, L. Lan, L. McCall, M.W. Dewhirst, Thermal dose fractionation affects tumour physiological response, Int. J. Hyperth. 28 (2012) 431–440, https://doi.org/10. 3109/02656736.2012.689087.
- [139] L. Ludemann, P. Wust, J. Gellermann, Perfusion measurement using DCE-MRI: implications for hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 24 (2008) 91–96, https://doi.org/10. 1080/02656730701836954.
- [140] P. Clement, H.-J. Mutsaerts, L. Václavů, E. Ghariq, F.B. Pizzini, M. Smits, M. Acou, J. Jovicich, R. Vanninen, M. Kononen, R. Wiest, E. Rostrup, A.J. Bastos-Leite, E.-M. Larsson, E. Achten, Variability of physiological brain perfusion in healthy subjects a systematic review of modifiers. Considerations for multi-center ASL studies, J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 38 (2018) 1418–1437, https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X17702156.

- [141] I.V. Boas-Ribeiro, P.A. Wielopolski, M. Franckena, J.A. Hernandez-Tamames, G.C. van Rhoon, M.M. Paulides, Potential impact of MR-only treatment planning for MR guided deep pelvic hyperthermia, 33rd Annual Meeting of the European Society for Hyperthermic Oncology Conference (ESHO 2019)Warsaw, Poland, 2019.
- [142] J. Gellermann, B. Hildebrandt, R. Issels, H. Ganter, W. Wlodarczyk, V. Budach, R. Felix, P.-U. Tunn, P. Reichardt, P. Wust, Noninvasive magnetic resonance thermography of soft tissue sarcomas during regional hyperthermia: correlation with response and direct thermometry, Cancer 107 (2006) 1373–1382, https://doi.org/ 10.1002/cncr.22114.
- [143] S. Curto, H.T. Mulder, B. Aklan, O. Mils, M. Schmidt, U. Lamprecht, M. Peller, R. Wessalowski, L.H. Lindner, R. Fietkau, D. Zips, N. van Holthe, M. Franckena, M.M. Paulides and G.C. Rhoon, A Multi-Institutional Study: Comparing the Heating Patterns of Five Different MR-Guided Deep Hyperthermia Systems Using an Anthropomorphic Phantom, (In review).
- [144] J. Delannoy, C.-N. Chen, R. Turner, R.L. Levin, D. Le Bihan, Noninvasive temperature imaging using diffusion MRI, Magn. Reson. Med. 19 (1991) 333–339, https://doi. org/10.1002/mrm.1910190224.
- [145] D.L. Carter, J.R. MacFall, S.T. Clegg, X. Wan, D.M. Prescott, H.C. Charles, T.V. Samulski, magnetic resonance thermometry during hyperthermia for human high-grade Sarcoma, Int. J. Radiat. Oncol. Biol. Phys. 40 (1998) 815–822, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-3016(97)00855-9.
- [146] O.I. Craciunescu, P.R. Stauffer, B.J. Soher, C.R. Wyatt, O. Arabe, P. Maccarini, S.K. Das, K.-S. Cheng, T.Z. Wong, E.L. Jones, M.W. Dewhirst, Z. Vujaskovic, J.R. MacFall, Accuracy of real time noninvasive temperature measurements using magnetic resonance thermal imaging in patients treated for high grade extremity soft tissue sarcomas: noninvasive temperature monitoring using magnetic resonance thermal imaging, Med. Phys. 36 (2009) 4848–4858, https://doi.org/10.1118/1.3227506.
- [147] B. Hendrikx, S. Curto, B. De Jager, B. Maljaars, G.C. Van Rhoon, M.M. Paulides, M. Heemels, POD-based recursive temperature estimation for mr-guided rf hyperthermia cancer treatment: a pilot study, 2018 IEEE Conference on Decision and Control (CDC), IEEE, Miami Beach, FL, USA 2018, pp. 5201–5208, https://doi.org/ 10.1109/CDC.2018.8619745.
- [148] F. Adibzadeh, S. Curto, K. Sumser, D.T.B. Yeo, A.A. Shishegar, M.M. Paulides, Systematic Review of Pre-clinical and Clinical Devices for Magnetic Resonance Guided Radiofrequency Hyperthermia, Int. J. Hyperth. 37 (2020) 15–27, https://doi.org/10. 1080/02656736.2019.1705404.
- [149] M. Rybinski, Z. Szymanska, S. Lasota, A. Gambin, Modelling the efficacy of hyperthermia treatment, J. R. Soc. Interface 10 (2013) 0527, https://doi.org/10.1098/ rsif.2013.0527.
- [150] A. Gasselhuber, M.R. Dreher, A. Negussie, B.J. Wood, F. Rattay, D. Haemmerich, Mathematical spatio-temporal model of drug delivery from low temperature sensitive liposomes during radiofrequency tumour ablation, Int. J. Hyperth. 26 (2010) 499–513, https://doi.org/10.3109/02656731003623590.
- [151] C. Rossmann, M.A. McCrackin, K.E. Armeson, D. Haemmerich, Temperature sensitive liposomes combined with thermal ablation: effects of duration and timing of heating in mathematical models and in vivo, PLoS One 12 (2017) 1–15, https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0179131.
- [152] C. Bing, R.M. Staruch, M. Tillander, M.O. Kohler, C. Mougenot, M. Ylihautala, T.W. Laetsch, R. Chopra, Drift correction for accurate PRF-shift MR thermometry during mild hyperthermia treatments with MR-HIFU, Int. J. Hyperth. 32 (2016) 673–687, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2016.1179799.
- [153] G.M. Verduijn, E.M. de Wee, Z. Rijnen, P. Togni, J.A.U. Hardillo, I. Ten Hove, M. Franckena, G.C. van Rhoon, M.M. Paulides, Deep hyperthermia with the HYPERcollar system combined with irradiation for advanced head and neck carcinoma a feasibility study, Int. J. Hyperth. 34 (2018) 994–1001, https://doi.org/10. 1080/02656736.2018.1454610.
- [154] D. Rodrigues, J. Ellsworth, P. Stauffer, M. Hurwitz, P. Turner, Feasibility of heating brain tumors using a 915 MHz annular phased array with 72 dipole antennas in a 3-ring configuration, 35th Annual Meeting of the Society for Thermal Medicine (STM 2018)Tuczon, AZ, USA, 2018.
- [155] G. Schooneveldt, H. Dobsicek Trefna, M. Persson, T.M. de Reijke, K. Blomgren, H.P. Kok, H. Crezee, Hyperthermia treatment planning including convective flow in cerebrospinal fluid for brain tumour hyperthermia treatment using a novel dedicated paediatric brain applicator, Cancers (Basel) 11 (2019) https://doi.org/10.3390/ cancers11081183.
- [156] P. Takook, M. Shafiemehr, M. Persson, H.D. Trefná, Experimental evaluation of UWB applicator prototype for head and neck hyperthermia, 2017 11th European

Conference on Antennas and Propagation (EUCAP) 2017, pp. 3619–3620, https://doi.org/10.23919/EuCAP.2017.7928645.

- [157] L. Winter, C. Oezerdem, W. Hoffmann, T. van de Lindt, J. Periquito, Y. Ji, P. Ghadjar, V. Budach, P. Wust, T. Niendorf, Thermal magnetic resonance: physics considerations and electromagnetic field simulations up to 23.5 Tesla (1GHz), Radiat. Oncol. 10 (2015) 201, https://doi.org/10.1186/s13014-015-0510-9.
- [158] M.M. Paulides, J.F. Bakker, A.P. Zwamborn, G.C. Van Rhoon, A head and neck hyperthermia applicator: theoretical antenna array design, Int. J. Hyperth. 23 (2007) 59–67, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730601150522.
- [159] G. Cappiello, T. Drizdal, B. Mc Ginley, M. O'Halloran, M. Glavin, G.C. van Rhoon, E. Jones, M.M. Paulides, The potential of time-multiplexed steering in phased array microwave hyperthermia for head and neck cancer treatment, Phys. Med. Biol. 63 (2018) 135023, https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6560/aaca10.
- [160] K. Hynynen, O. Pomeroy, D.N. Smith, P.E. Huber, N.J. McDannold, J. Kettenbach, J. Baum, S. Singer, F.A. Jolesz, MR imaging-guided focused ultrasound surgery of fibroadenomas in the breast: a feasibility study, Radiology 219 (2001) 176–185, https://doi.org/10.1148/radiology.219.1.r01ap02176.
- [161] C.M. Tempany, E.A. Stewart, N. McDannold, B.J. Quade, F.A. Jolesz, K. Hynynen, MR imaging-guided focused ultrasound surgery of uterine leiomyomas: a feasibility study, Radiology 226 (2003) 897–905, https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2271020395.
- [162] J. Gellermann, W. Wlodarczyk, A. Feussner, H. Fahling, J. Nadobny, B. Hildebrandt, R. Felix, P. Wust, Methods and potentials of magnetic resonance imaging for monitoring radiofrequency hyperthermia in a hybrid system, Int. J. Hyperth. 21 (2005) 497–513, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656730500070102.
- [163] M.R. Tarasek, R. Pellicer, L.W. Hofstetter, W.C. Numan, J.F. Bakker, G. Kotek, P. Togni, R.F. Verhaart, E.W. Fiveland, G.C. Houston, G.C. van Rhoon, M.M. Paulides, D.T. Yeo, Validation of MR thermometry: method for temperature probe sensor registration accuracy in head and neck phantoms, Int. J. Hyperth. 30 (2014) 142–149, https:// doi.org/10.3109/02656736.2014.887794.
- [164] O.I. Craciunescu, P.R. Stauffer, B.J. Soher, C.R. Wyatt, O. Arabe, P. Maccarini, S.K. Das, K.S. Cheng, T.Z. Wong, E.L. Jones, M.W. Dewhirst, Z. Vujaskovic, J.R. MacFall, Accuracy of real time noninvasive temperature measurements using magnetic resonance thermal imaging in patients treated for high grade extremity soft tissue sarcomas, Med. Phys. 36 (2009) 4848–4858, https://doi.org/10.1118/1.3227506.
- [165] H. Odeen, D.L. Parker, Magnetic resonance thermometry and its biological applications - physical principles and practical considerations, Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc. 110 (2019) 34–61, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnmrs.2019.01.003.
- [166] F. Adibzadeh, M.M. Paulides, G.C. van Rhoon, SAR thresholds for electromagnetic exposure using functional thermal dose limits, Int. J. Hyperth. 34 (2018) 1248–1254, https://doi.org/10.1080/02656736.2018.1424945.
- [167] B.T. Svedin, A. Payne, B.D. Bolster Jr., D.L. Parker, Multiecho pseudo-golden angle stack of stars thermometry with high spatial and temporal resolution using kspace weighted image contrast, Magn. Reson. Med. 79 (2018) 1407–1419, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.26797.
- [168] M. Marx, P. Ghanouni, K. Butts Pauly, Specialized volumetric thermometry for improved guidance of MRgFUS in brain, Magn. Reson. Med. 78 (2017) 508–517, https://doi.org/10.1002/mrm.26385.
- [169] M. Diakite, H. Odeen, N. Todd, A. Payne, D.L. Parker, Toward real-time temperature monitoring in fat and aqueous tissue during magnetic resonance-guided highintensity focused ultrasound using a three-dimensional proton resonance frequency T1 method, Magn. Reson. Med. 72 (2014) 178–187, https://doi.org/10. 1002/mrm.24900.
- [170] J.A. Tashjian, M.W. Dewhirst, D. Needham, B.L. Viglianti, Rationale for and measurement of liposomal drug delivery with hyperthermia using non-invasive imaging techniques, Int. J. Hyperth. 24 (2008) 79–90, https://doi.org/10.1080/ 02656730701840147.
- [171] N.M. Hijnen, A. Elevelt, J. Pikkemaat, C. Bos, L.W. Bartels, H. Grull, The magnetic susceptibility effect of gadolinium-based contrast agents on PRFS-based MR thermometry during thermal interventions, J. Ther. Ultrasound. 1 (2013) 8, https:// doi.org/10.1186/2050-5736-1-8.
- [172] D.W. Klomp, B.L. van de Bank, A. Raaijmakers, M.A. Korteweg, C. Possanzini, V.O. Boer, C.A. van de Berg, M.A. van de Bosch, P.R. Luijten, 31P MRSI and 1H MRS at 7 T: initial results in human breast cancer, NMR Biomed. 24 (2011) 1337–1342, https://doi.org/10.1002/nbm.1696.
- [173] E. Silletta, A. Jerschow, G. Madelin, L. Alon, Multinuclear Absolute MR Thermometry, The International Society for Magnetic Resonance in Medicine (ISMRM) 27th Annual MeetingMontreal QC Canada, 2019.